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20 July 1901
26 February 1996

We chose district of Mustafakemalpaşa as the 
headquarters of our company. In this area, 
which Is in the agricultural field of Susurluk 
Sugar Plant, agricultural tests were executed 
for 2 years with the seeds that we imported 
from Portugal. These tests were successful and 
encouraged us. It was finally the time to set up 
our company. TAT Konserve Sanayii A.Ş. was 
established with a capital of TL 12,000,000. A 
land was bought and the construction started. 
Meanwhile, the machinery to be purchased 
was determined and ordered. On 18th February 
1968, Sunday, we established the company 
in the building in Mustafakemalpaşa and 
contracts were signed with the villagers for 
1968 crop. Production will start in September, 
if God permits us. Our desire is cordial. We have 
set out for a long-term business. I will feel very 
happy and I will forget all my exhaustions if 
we can supply foreign currency to the country 
with our product that has never been exported 
before. I believe that many factories will be 
established for export in our country if we 
succeed. Thus, we plan to extend to the Central 
Anatolia, where the farmers need development 
with new products. I believe that God will help 
me to realize this work, which I have followed 
tirelessly and persistently for 20 years. I would 
like to take the opportunity to remember and 
thank again all the people and my colleagues 
for their valuable support since the beginning 
of this company. People are evanescent. It is 
necessary to continue working tirelessly and 
persistently in order to be successful on this 
business. 

I wish success and pay my respect to you.

İstanbul, 18.03.1968 
Vehbi KOÇ
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GOALS AND PRINCIPLES OF THE
KOÇ GROUP
Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. embraces the goals and 
principles of the Koç Group as its motto. The goals 
and principles set out by our founder Vehbi Koç are 
as follows:

Our Customers are the focus of everything we do

Our top priority is to create value for our 
customers; to respond promptly to their 
expectations with quality. It is our duty to take 
responsibility for our products and do our very best 
to assist our customers even after their service. 

To be “the best” is our ultimate goal

To be the best in quality, service, supplier, and 
dealer relationships; to offer the best investment 
options for our shareholders; and to sustain this 
reputation are our primary goals. To achieve 
these goals we are committed to managing our 
businesses to be the leader in the market.

To be “the best” is our ultimate goal

To be the best in quality, service, supplier, and 
dealer relationships; to offer the best investment 
options for our shareholders; and to sustain this 
reputation are our primary goals. To achieve 
these goals we are committed to managing our 
businesses to be the leader in the market.

Our most important asset is our people

The quality of our products and services is based 
on the quality of our people. For the continuity of 
Koç Group, we follow a policy of attracting and 
recruiting the best people, and the most qualified 
workforce; fully utilizing the talents, strength, and 
creativity of our people; and providing opportunities 
for increased productivity and development and 
creating a work environment which nourishes 
cooperation, and solidarity.

Creation of wealth for continuous development is 
our key objective

Investing to assure continuity of service; creating 
value for our shareholders to encourage and 
leverage small and large savings and allocating 
resources from our operations to create value and 
to ensure efficient utilization of all resources with 
a view to preventing waste and supporting the 
economic and social development of our people and 
our society are our key objectives.

Honesty, integrity, and superior business ethics 
are the foundations of our business conduct

We conduct our business based on good intentions, 
mutual benefit, understanding and fair treatment 
in all our relationships. We are committed to 
conforming at all times to the highest ethical and 
legal standards. We are a leader in serving our 
society and safeguarding the interests of future 
generations. Protection of the environment and 
promotion of a higher level of environmental 
awareness are our duty to both our country and our 
planet. 

We draw strength from the Turkish economy and 
aspire to strengthen it
I would like to express a guiding principle of our 
Group with these words:
“This is my code: I live and prosper with my 
country. As long as democracy exists and thrives, 
so do we. We shall do our utmost to strengthen 
our economy. As our economy prospers, so will 
democracy and our standing in the world.”

Vehbi Koç
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AGENDA

AGENDA OF THE ORDINARY GENERAL ASSEMBLY DATED 25.03.2015 OF
TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş.

1. Opening and appointment of the Chair of the  
 Assembly,

2. Presentation, negotiation and approval of 2014  
 Annual Report issued by the Board of Directors of  
 the Company,

3. Presentation of the Independent Audit Report  
 Summary related to year 2014 accounting period,

4. Presentation, negotiation and approval of the  
 Financial Statements related to year 2014
 accounting period,

5. Release of the members of the Board of Directors  
 for the operations of the Company in year 2014

6. Approval, approval through amendment or  
 refusal of the proposal of the Board of Directors  
 about the distribution of profit and the date of  
 distribution of the profit for year 2014, which was  
 put forward on the basis of the Company’s profit  
 distribution policy. 

7. Determining the number of members of the Board  
 of Directors and their period in office, election 
 of the determined number of members, election  
 of the Independent Members of the Board of
 Directors

8. Informing the Shareholders about the   
 “Remuneration Policy for Members of the Board 
 of Directors and Senior Managers” in line with the  
 Principles of Corporate Governance as well as the  
 payments made under the policy and approval of  
 the same

9. Determining the monthly gross remunerations for  
 the members of the Board of Directors,

10. Approval of the Independent Audit Company  
 selected by the Board of Directors under the  
 Turkish Commercial Code  and the regulations of  
 Capital Markets Board

11. Informing the Shareholders about the donations  
 and grants provided by the Company for social  
 aid purposes in 2014 and determining an upper  
 limit for the grants to take place in 2015

12. Informing the Shareholders about the guarantees,  
 pledges and liens given in favor of the third 
 parties, and incomes or benefits provided by
 the Company and its subsidiaries in 2014 as to the
 regulations of Capital Markets Board

13. Permission for the controlling shareholders,  
 members of the Board of Directors, and senior  
 managers and their spouses and relatives up  
 to second generation by heritage or by marriage,  
 within the framework of 395 and 396 of the  
 Turkish Commercial Code and informing the  
 shareholders about the transactions realized in
 2014 in parallel with the Communiqué on 
 Corporate Governance Principles issued by the 
 Capital Markets Board

14. Comments and opinions 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 

We would like to salute all our shareholders on the 
Forty Seventh Ordinary General Assembly convening 
in order to examine and conclude the results of the 
operations in year 2014.

1. Period of the Report                                 
01.01.2014 – 31.12.2014

2. Company Information                             
Title of the Company  : Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş.
Trade Registry No : 96638  

Address  : Taşdelen Mahallesi Sırrı  
     Çelik Bulvarı No: 7
     Çekmeköy / İstanbul
Phone no  : 0216 430 00 00
Website   : www.tatgida.com  

3. Capital and Shareholder Structure 
By the end of 2014, the registered capital ceiling 
of our company is TL 250,000,000 and the paid-in 
capital is TL 136,000,000 and there was no change 
that took place during the year. Our company has no 
privileged share.  

NAME/TITLE OF THE 
SHAREHOLDER 

AMOUNT OF 
SHARE

%

Koç Holding A.Ş. 59.364.947,17 43,7

Temel Ticaret Yat. A.Ş. 4.427.888,60 3,3

Kagome Co Ltd. 5.071.168,20 3,7

Sumitomo Corp. 2.077.983,34 1,5

Other 22.381.212,69 16,4

Public 42.676.800,00 31,4

TOTAL 136.000.000,00 100,0

Issued Securities                   
On 3 December 2014, the Capital Markets Board 
approved the application which we had filed upon 
a decision by the Board of Directors dated 14 
November 2014 to issue debentures. In this scope, 
on 26 December 2014, the issue was executed 
successfully with a nominal value of TL 50 Million 
with a term of 24 months, with fixed coupons every 6 
months, with capital payment at the end of term and 
with a fixed interest of 9.6809 %.

Amendments to Articles of Association
There was no amendment to the Articles of 
Association during the period of the Report. 

4. Information on the Board of Directors,
Senior Managers and Employees  
Within the framework of the provisions of Turkish 
Commercial Code and Articles of Association, 
the Board of Directors is elected by the General 
Assembly to serve until the next General Assembly. 

Any changes in the Board of Directors during the 
period, which take place upon a decision by the Board 
of Directors, are to be approved by the first General 
Assembly following the change. The Company’s 
Ordinary General Assembly for year 2013 took place 
on 25.03.2014. 

Name, Surname Title
Assignment 

Date

İbrahim Tamer 
Haşimoğlu

Chairman 25.03.2014

Semahat Sevim Arsel
Deputy 

Chairman
25.03.2014

Mustafa Rahmi Koç Member 25.03.2014

Mustafa Vehbi Koç Member 25.03.2014

Mehmet Ömer Koç Member 25.03.2014

Yıldırım Ali Koç Member 25.03.2014

Arif Nuri Bulut
Independent 

Member
25.03.2014

Mansur Özgün
Independent 

Member
25.03.2014

Masahiro Sumitomo Member 25.03.2014

Arzu Aslan Kesimer
Member/
General 
Manager 

25.03.2014

Duties and Powers of Members of the Board of
Directors
The members of the Board of Directors enjoy the 
powers laid down in the relevant articles of Turkish 
Commercial Code and articles 11 and 12 of Articles of 
Association.

Committees of Board of Directors

Audit Committee Title 
Assignment 

Date

Mansur Özgün Chairman 29.4.2014

Arif Nuri Bulut Üye 29.4.2014

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Title 
Assignment 

Date

Mansur Özgün Chairman 29.4.2014

Mehmet Ömer Koç Member 29.4.2014

Ahmet Çağaşan Yılmaz Member 1.7.2014

Risk Management 
Committee 

Title 
Assignment 

Date

Arif Nuri Bulut Chairman 29.4.2014

Yıldırım Ali Koç Member 29.4.2014

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT WHICH WAS PRESENTED AT THE FORTY 
SEVENTH ORDINARY GENERAL ASSEMBLY DATED 25.03.2015 OF TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş.
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Senior Managers 

Name, Surname Title Experience (Year) Education

Arzu Aslan Kesimer General Manager 23
Boğaziçi University MA in 
Economics

Ahmet Çağaşan Yılmaz*
Assistant General Manager
– Accounting&Finance

14 İTÜ / Koç University MBA

Ahmet Tekin Özdener
Assistant General Manager 
– Marketing and Trade

25
Gazi University / National 
University MBA in Marketing

Hakan Turan
Assistant General Manager 
– Production 

24
İTÜ / Boğaziçi University MSc 
in Mechanical Engineering

Sertaç Erenmemişoğlu
Director – Human 
Resources 

20
İTÜ / İTÜ MSc in Engineering 
Management

* Mr. Erenmemişoğlu replaced Mr. Tamer Soyupak on 1 July 2014.  

Employee Movements
Number of Employees as of 31.12.2014: 1,045
Number of Employees as of 31.12.2013: 1,044

Collective Agreement Practices  
The current Collective Agreement expired on 31.12.2014. Talks between our Company and the Tek-Gıda İş 
Trade Union were underway at the time of the drafting of this Report. 

Severance Pay Liability
As of 31.12.2014, our severance pay liability amounted to TL 10,833,747.
As of 31.12.2013, our severance pay liability amounted to TL 10,550,732.

5. Financial Rights Granted to Members of Board of Directors and Senior Managers   
All rights, benefits and payments provided to the Members of the Board of Directors and Senior Managers are 
determined on the basis of the Company’s ‘‘Remuneration Policy for Members of the Board of Directors and 
Seniors Managers’’. The payments made are disclosed to public in the footnotes of our financial statements. 

Transactions causing conflict of interest, such as lending or making a loan available to the members of our 
Board of Directors or our executives by the Company, are not allowed. 

Total financial rights provided to the members of the Board of Directors and senior managers in year 2014 is 
TL 7.9 Million.

6. Research and Development  
The purpose of R&D operation is the development of new products in parallel with the market and customer 
expectations, maintaining product and service quality. For this purpose, TL 12,429 has been spent on R&D 
activities in 2014. In addition, we cooperate with our partners by utilizing their technical capabilities in R&D 
operations. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
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7. Investments                                  
In 2014, an investment of total TL 47,096,991 was made 
within the scope of renewal, modernization and capacity 
building. The details of the investment expenditures 
based on production location are as follows:

Investments (TL) 2014 2013

Tomato Products & 
Canned Foods

12.615.076 7.638.176

Milk and Dairy Products 32.491.457 12.821.403

Meat and Meat Products - 1.192.789

Pasta and Bakery 
Products 

968.277 1.298.484

Other 1.022.181 184.613

TOTAL 47.096.991 23.135.465

Incentives                    
An Investment Incentive Certificate was obtained for the 
modernization investment in Bursa Mustafakemalpaşa 
Canned Foods Plant. Investments taking place within 
the scope of the Certificate are exempt from VAT and 
Customs Duty. 

Bursa Mustafakemalpaşa Sek Dairy Plant received 
an Investment Incentive Certificate for investment in 
extension. Investments made within the scope of the 
Certificate are subject to a Tax Discount of 50% and 
exemption from VAT and Customs Tax and a support 
for Employer’s Share for Social Security Premium. 

İzmir Torbalı Canned Foods Plant received an 
Investment Incentive Certificate for investment in 
modernization. Investments made within the scope of 
the Certificate are exempt from VAT and Customs Duty. 

Bursa Karacabey Canned Foods Plant received an 
Investment Incentive Certificate for investment in 
modernization. Investments made within the scope of 
the Certificate are exempt from VAT and Customs Duty.

8. The View of the Board of Directors Regarding
Internal Control System and Internal Audit  
By a decision made during the meeting of the 
Board of Directors date 26.04.2012, the principles 
of operation of the Audit Committee have been 
reviewed and revised according to the developments 
in the Capital Markets Board regulations for the 
purpose of operation of accounting and reporting 
systems in our company within the framework of the 
applicable laws and regulations, disclosure of the 
financial information to the public and supervision 
of operation and efficiency for an independent audit 
and internal control system.  The Audit Committee 
convenes at least four times annually, at least once 

every three months. The results of the meeting are 
recorded and submitted to the Board of Directors. 

The Committee immediately informs in writing 
the Board of Directors of the findings and 
recommendations in relation to its area of duty and 
responsibility. 

Ordinary audits have been carried out by various 
public administrations within year 2014. There is no 
material formal notice submitted to us.  

The Audit Committee reviews the findings which 
were submitted to the Committee by the Independent 
Auditor within the framework of Independent Audit; 
matters of importance concerning the accounting 
policy and practices of the Company; alternative 
practices and public disclosure alternatives 
submitted to the Company management by the 
Independent Auditor, possible consequences of as 
well as recommendations for implementation for the 
said alternatives under the accounting standards 
and principles of the Capital Markets Board; and 
important correspondence between the Auditor the 
Company management.  

The Audit Committee also informs the Board of 
Directors in writing of annual and mid-term financial 
statements to be made public in terms of their 
conformity with accounting standards applied 
by the Company as well as their accuracy upon 
consulting the relevant managers of the Company 
and independent auditors, along with its own 
considerations.

9. Information on the Direct and Indirect
Subsidiaries of the Company and Shareholdings
Therein
The shareholding rates as of 31 December 2014 are 
provided below:

Title 31.12.2014

Moova Gıda Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 100%

Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 50%

Alaşehir Alk. İçk. A.Ş. 18,4%

Ram Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 7,5%

10. The Company’s Shares Acquired by the Company 
None.

11. Private Audit and Public Audit Within 2014 
Ordinary audits are performed by the various public 
institutions within year 2014 and there is no material 
formal notice informed to us. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
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12. Information about the Cases Filed Against
the Company, Which May Have an Impact on
the Financial Standing and Operations of the
Company and their Possible Outcomes. 
None.

13. Administrative of Judicial Sanctions Applied
for the Company and the Board of Directors Due
to Violation of the Provisions of the Legislation 
None.

14. Comparison of the General Assembly 
Resolutions 
The decisions taken during the Ordinary General 
Assembly of 25.03.2014 and the Extraordinary General 
Assembly of 21.07.2014  have been implemented.

15. Information Regarding the Extraordinary
General Assembly Held within the Year 
On 21.07.2014, an Extraordinary General Assembly 
was held to discuss Maret Meat Production Plant and 
a sales transaction concerning the land on which the 
Plant is located.   

16. Expenditures within the Framework of
Donations and Social Responsibility Projects
Within the Year 
Social aid of TL 326,250 has been provided to 
organizations with social purposes. 

17. Affiliated Company Report Prepared
within the Scope of Article 199 of the Turkish
Commercial Code 
Under article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code 
numbered 6102 that entered into force on 1st July 
2012, the Board of Directors of Tat Gıda A.Ş. is liable 
to issue a report on the relations of the company 
with the affiliated shareholder and the subsidiaries 
of the affiliated shareholder in the past year within 
the three months of the financial year and to include 
the conclusion of such report in the annual report. 
The necessary comments relating to the transactions 
of Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. with the related parties are 
included in footnote 29 of the financial report.   

The Board of Directors of our Company approved the 
report explaining our relationship with our affiliated 
shareholders during the meeting dated 26.02.2015 
within the scope of article 199 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code, and the conclusion section of the 
said report is as follows: 

“It is concluded that, with respect to all the 
transactions of Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. with the 
affiliated shareholder and the subsidiaries of the of 
the affiliated shareholder within the year 2014, in 
each transaction a proper counter-gain was obtained 

according to the conditions and status known by 
us when the transaction was entered into or the 
measure was taken or avoided and that there is no 
measure taken or avoided that can cause a loss for 
the company and that there is no transaction or 
measure requiring balance within this framework.’’ 

18. Information on the Permission for the 
Shareholders, Who has Control in Management, 
Members of the Board of Directors, and Senior 
Managers, and Their Spouses and Relatives up 
to Second Generation by Blood or by Marriage, 
to Enter into Transactions that, in nature, may 
Cause Conflict of Interests with the Company 
or Subsidiaries and to Compete 
Authorization is received from the General Assembly 
within the framework of articles 395 and 396 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code. 

19. Analysis and Evaluation of the Executive 
Body Regarding Financial Standing and 
Operational Results, Level of Realization of the 
Planned Operations and the Standing of the 
Company in line with the Strategic Goals 
By a decision of the Company dated 20 June 2014, it 
was decided that an asset sales would be executed 
for the Maret Plant. The sales transaction was 
concluded on 4 August 2014. On 23 June 2014 the 
Board of Directors decided to execute material asset 
sales for Harranova. The sales transaction took 
place on 1 October 2014. On 1 July 2014, the Board of 
Directors decided that  Moova Gıda San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 
would be purchased.  The asset purchase transaction 
was finalized on 20 August 2014. Harranova Besi 
ve Tarım Ürünleri A.Ş. and the Maret Plant were 
categorized as ‘‘ ceased operations’’ in the income 
statements for the period of the report. In this 
respect, according to operational results obtained, 
the company’s net sales increased by 17.4% to TL 
817.04 million as compared to year 2013. The gross 
profit of the company increased by 8.9% to over 
TL 172.23 million and the net profit from continued 
operations increased by 3.85% to over TL 27.74 
million.

20. Information on the Sales, Efficiency, 
Capability to Create Revenues, Profitability 
and Debt/Equity Ratio of the Company 
and Other Matters to Give an Idea about 
the Results of the Company Operations as 
Compared with the Past Years 
By the bid arranged in 2014 by the Ministry in relation 
with the School Milk Project realized for the first 
time by the Ministry for a short period in 2012 and 
carried out in 2013 as a program which our company 
also joined, a total of 61 million liters of milk was 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
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distributed to 81 cities; and 2.4 million liters of milk 
was supplied by our company. By the tender that 
took place for 2015, 56 million liters of milk will 
be distributed and 2.5 million liters of milk will be 
supplied by our company. 

It is expected that these practices would support the 
development of the sector in Turkey and contribute 
to increasing the milk consumption.

The net sales were realized 30% above the figures 
of 2013 in the paste and canned food segment. The 
net sales grew by 12% as compared to last year in the  
milk and dairy  products segment.

The net sales for the pasta products are above 
last year’s figures by 1%. Being the market leader 
of the premium segment of the pasta sector with 
its Pastavilla brand, Tat continues the strategy to 
maintain its market share in this sector. 

When the domestic sales in 2013 and 2014 are 
compared for our products, the growths by 
categories were realized as 27% for paste, 22% for 
UHT milk, 21% for pea, 20% for pasteurized milk and 
tomato products, 19% for vegetables, 19% for butter 
and 11% for yoghurt drink (ayran).

Our company is the market leader in tomato paste, 
tomato products and ketchup with Tat brand, in 
pasteurized milk with SEK brand, and in premium 
pasta category with Pastavilla brand as of 2014. 
In addition, it is listed as the second brand for 
mayonnaise and pepper paste with Tat brand. 

Information Related to Production

Production Plants Products

TAT/
Mustafakemalpaşa/
BURSA

Tomato products, Canned 
foods, Sauce, Jam

SEK/
Mustafakemalpaşa/
BURSA

Milk and dairy products, 
Fruit and Vegetable Juice

TAT/Karacabey/BURSA Paste, Canned Foods

TAT/Torbalı/İZMİR Paste

PASTAVİLLA/Bornova/
İZMİR

Pasta and Bakery 
Products

MARET/Tuzla/
İSTANBUL

Meat and Meat Products*

MOOVA A.Ş./Söke/
MANİSA

Milk and Dairy Products

*By a decision taken by the Board of Directors on 20.06.2014 , operations ceased in 
Maret plant due to asset sales. 

In year 2014, 192 thousand tons of raw milk was 
processed and 181 thousand tons of dairy products, 
12 thousand tons of fruit juice, 49 thousand tons of 
wheat and 32 thousand tons of pasta, 18 thousand 
tons of pasta by-products, 323 thousand tons of 
tomatoes, 11 thousand tons of vegetables and fruits 
were processed; and 57 thousand tons of paste,
5 thousand tons of tomato products, 10 thousand 
tons of ketchup, 6 thousand tons of mayonnaise and 
9 thousand tons of canned foods were produced in 
the 6 plants operating under our Company. 

Production (Ton ) 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Tat Products

       Paste  57.342 56.982

       Diced and Peeled  
       Tomatoes 

5.138 4.558

       Vegetables and                                    
       Other Canned 
       Foods 

24.718 23.456

Sek Products

        Milk 110.608 101.989

        Cheese 408

        Fruit Juice 12.097 12.897

        Cream 1.222 1.259

        Yoghurt 47.750 50.255

        Yoghurt Drink 
        (Ayran) 

19.589 19.571

        Sahlep 1.175 1.918

        Other 3.771 3.961

Pastavilla Products

       Pasta 31.873 32.048

       Other by-products 18.481 19.355

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
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Net Sales Breakdown by Business Segment 

Net Sales (million TL) 2014 2013 Fark %

Business Segment TL Ton TL Ton TL Ton

Tomato Products and 
Canned Foods

315 98.126 242 80.703 30,33 21,59

Milk and Dairy Products 441 191.366 394 185.010 11,93 3,44

Pasta and Bakery 
Products

60 30.769 60 33.755 0,89 (8,85)

Total 817 320.261 696 299.467 17,38 6,94

Financial Results

Summary Income Statement 
(Million TL)

2014* 2013* 2012 2011 2010

Net Sales 817 696 747 692 787

Gross Profit 172 158 161 137 144

EBITDA 51 53 51 40 58

Operating Profit 42 39 35 25 42

Profit Before Tax 35 32 20 9 27

Net Profit (Shares of Parent Company) 150 2 3 9 16

Key Indicators (%) 2014* 2013* 2012 2011 2010

Gross Profit Margin 21,1 22,7 21,6 19,8 18,3 

EBITDA Margin 6,2 7,6 6,8 5,8 7,4 

Operating Profit Margin 5,1 5,6 4,7 3,6 5,3 

Net Profit Margin 18,4 0,3 0,4 1,3 2,0 

Current Ratio 2,0 1,9 1,7 2,7 2,0

Liquidity Ratio 1,3 1,2 0,9 1,3 0,8

Net Debt/Equity Ratio 0,3 1,0 1,2 1,0 1,1

*Asset sale for Harranova Besi ve Tarım Ürünleri A.Ş. and Maret Plant was carried out on 1 October 2014 and 4 August 2014 respectively. Within this framework, the figures relating to 
Harranova and Maret have been removed from income statements related to 2014 and 2013. Since Harranova is categorized as ceased operation, the figures related to the plant are 
not included in the figures for year 2012. 
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21. The Findings and Evaluations of the 
Managing Body as to whether the Company’s 
Capital Remains Uncovered or not or as to 
whether it is Insoluble or not 
The Risk Management Committee has assessed 
whether the company’s capital remains uncovered 
or not within the scope of article 376 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code; and it is concluded that the issued 
capital of Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. amounting to TL 
136,000,000 remains in existence with the equity 
of TL  349,962,604 of the parent company as of 
31.12.2014, and that the Company’s debt structure, 
with a Net Financial Debt/Equity Ratio of 0.3 is 
sufficiently sound to sustain operation. 

22. Dividend Distribution Policy
Our company distributes dividends to shareholders 
within the framework of the provisions of the Turkish 
Commercial Code, Capital Market regulations, Tax 
Regulations and other respective regulations and 
the article on distribution of profit of our Articles 
of Association. A balanced and consistent approach 
is implemented between the interests of the 
shareholders and the company, in accordance with 
Corporate Governance Principles.

Within the framework of Article 19 of Articles of 
Association of our Company, the General Assembly, 
reserves a primary legal reserve of 5% of the 
profit before tax. The General Assembly is entitled 
to distribute divided to members of the board 
of directors, officers, personnel and employees, 
foundations established for various purposes and 
legal and natural persons of similar nature based 
on the amount remaining after financial obligations, 
the first dividend reserved according to the Capital 
Market legislation. Moreover, once 5% of the paid-in 
capital is paid within the framework of the Capital 
Market regulations 5% of the remaining amount is 
paid to the holders of founder divided shares. 

As to the existing profit distribution policy;

The profit is left to the company for utilization in 
financing of investments and working capital and no 
cash dividend distribution is foreseen in line with the 
growth strategy. 

23. If Any, the Risk Management Policy to be 
Implemented by the Company Against the 
Anticipated Risks 
a) Capital Risk Management
The Company, while trying to ensure the sustainability 
of its operations, aims to increase its profit by using 
the debt and equity balance in the most efficient way in 
capital management. 

The capital structure of the Company is composed of 
the debts including the loan, respectively cash and cash 
equivalents, issued capital, reserves and equity items 
including the profits from the previous years.  

While managing the capital, the objectives of the 
Company are; to sustain the most suitable capital 
structure for providing return to its shareholders 
and decreasing the capital cost and to ensure the 
sustainability of the Company operations. 

b)  Financial Risk Management
The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk 
and liquidity risk due to its operations. The risk 
management program of the Company generally 
focuses on minimizing the possible negative effects 
of the uncertainty in the markets on the financial 
performance of the Company.

Risk Management is carried out by the Risk 
Management Committee in line with the policies 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

24. Information on the Studies and Reports 
About the Early Identification and Management
of Risk Committee if Formed 
The Risk Management Committee has been 
established, during the Board of Directors meeting 
of the Company dated 25.07.2012, for the purpose 
of giving advice and suggestions to the Board of 
Directors for the purpose of early risk identification 
and developing an efficient risk management system, 
in consideration of the provisions stipulated by the 
Turkish Commercial Code in accordance with the 
provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code number 
6102 and Corporate Governance Principles of the 
Capital Markets Board. Independent Board member 
Arif Nuri Bulut and Board member Yıldırım Ali Koç 
were appointed as Chairman and member of the Risk 
Committee respectively at the meeting of the Board 
of Directors dated 29.04.2014. 

The purpose of the Risk Committee is to give advice 
and suggestions to the Board of Directors on the 
early identification, assessment, calculation the 
probability of strategic, operational, financial, legal 
and any other risks, which may compromise the 
existence, development and sustainability of the 
Company; management and reporting of such risks 
according to the corporate risk taking profiles of the 
Company, taking the necessary actions related to the 
identified risk; taking such risks into consideration 
in decision-making and developing and integrating 
efficient internal control systems in connection 
thereto. The Committee convened 6 times, once 
every 2 months. The conclusions of the meetings 
were recorded and submitted to the Board of 
Directors. 
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25. Prospective Risks with Respect to Sales,
Efficiency, Capacity to Create Income,
Profitability, Debt/Equity Ratio and Similar
Matters 
The sales and gross profit of the Company increased 
by 17% and 9%, respectively and the debt/equity 
ratio improved. There is no prospective risk notified 
to the board of Directors of the Company. 

26. Organization out of the Headquarters 
None.

27. Distribution of Profit                                   
In the Consolidated Balance Sheet of our Company 
prepared according to the Communiqués of 
the Capital Boards Market, TL 150,262,119.00 
was recorded as consolidated net profit and TL 
109,099,141.56 as net profit.  In accordance with the 
Capital Market regulations, article 19 of Articles of 
Association of the Company and Profit Distribution 
Policy which was approved by the shareholders in the 
General Assembly dated 25.03.2014, we seek your 
approval for reserving an amount of TL 5,454,957.08 
as legal reserve, recording the remaining net profit 
of TL 69,729,523.39 as reserve fund according to the 
Tax Procedures Code and reserving the remaining 
amounts as excess reserves. 

To conclude, we would like to thank our shareholders, 
customers, employees and all persons and corporates 
contributing to our company. We once more salute 
our shareholders respectfully and hope that the year 
2015 bring prosperous days to our country. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
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PART I – DISCLOSURE FOR CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE

While all the mandatory principles have been 
complied within the scope of ‘‘Corporate Governance 
Communiqué’’ no. II-17.1, which was in force in 2014, 
most of the non-mandatory principles have also 
been complied with. Rapid compliance with the 
non-mandatory Corporate Governance Principles 
is also intended. The principles, which have not yet 
been fully implemented, are being worked on, and 
implementation is planned following completion of 
the administrative, legal and technical infrastructure 
studies in a manner to contribute to the efficient 
management of our Company. The comprehensive 
efforts of our Company within the framework of the 
corporate governance principles, and the principles, 
which have not yet fully been complied with under 
the respective sections, and any conflicts of interest 
arising therefrom are explained below. 

The leading effort relating to Corporate Governance in 
year 2014 is the effort of compliance with the Capital 
Market Code containing the new arrangements relating 
to corporate governance principles of the Capital 
Markets Board and to Communiqués drafted on the 
basis of the said Code. All the amendments foreseen 
in these regulations were made in the Articles of 
Association of our Company. The Board of Directors 
and the Committees of the Board of Directors were 
set up according to the provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Communiqué. There are two independent 
Board members in our Board of Directors according to 
the criteria set by the Capital Markets Board. 

The Committees of the Board of Directors carry out 
their activities efficiently. A Remuneration Policy 
was created for the Board of Directors and Senior 
Managers. The Shareholders were informed about 
the Remuneration Policy in the General Assembly. 
By the informing document prepared for the General 
Assembly, General Assembly information such as 
privileged shares, voting rights, organizational changes, 
CV’s of the nominees for membership to the Board 
of Directors, Remuneration Policy for the Board of 
Directors and Senior Managers, the reports that 
should be issued about related party transactions and 
the information that should be disclosed were made 
available to our investors 3 weeks before the General 
Assembly. Moreover, the Company website and annual 
report were reviewed and necessary revisions were 
made as needed in terms of full compliance with the 
principles. 

The arrangements required for compliance with the 
principles will also be done during the next period in line 
with the developments and practices in legislation. 

The non-mandatory Corporate Governance principles, 
which are outlined below, have not been fully complied 
with due to reasons mentioned above. Please find below 
detailed information relating to the issue:  

- Concerning principle no. 1.5.2, those who hold less 
than one twentieth of the capital as per the Articles 
of Association are not entitled to minority rights. Yet, 
they are entitled to rights stipulated in the general 
provisions of the legislation.
- Concerning principle no.  4.3.9, no target ratio 
or timeline has been determined in terms of the 
share of female Board Members. The issue is under 
consideration at the moment.  
- Concerning principle no. 4.4.7, as explained in section 
5.1 below, the members of the Board of Directors can 
assume other positions outside the Company. 

PART II – SHAREHOLDERS

2.1 Investor Relations Department 
In Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. investor relations are 
maintained by the unit operating under Accounting 
and Finance Assistant General Manager. 

The Investor Relations Report entails the activities 
which are carried out by the Investor Relations 
unit. The Report was approved by the Corporate 
Governance Committee and accepted by the Board of 
Directors by a resolution on 26.02.2015. 

Investor Relations Department and the contact 
information is as follows:

Ahmet Çağaşan YILMAZ   cagasan.yilmaz@tat.com.tr
Sertaç SEMİZ      sertac.semiz@tat.com.tr   
Hikmet İN      hikmet.in@tat.com.tr 
Phone       : +90 216 430 00 00
Fax       : +90 216 430 80 15

The responsibilities undertaken by Investor Relations 
consist mainly the following:
 - Presenting our company to the individual and  
    institutional investors; informing potential   
    investors and shareholders
 - Meeting any demand for information from   
   undergraduate, graduate students, academic staff  
   at universities, who engage in studies related to  
   our Company and the sector 
 - Making preparations for General Assembly   
      meetings, issuing related documentation, receiving  
   the preliminary permits for the amendments to 
   the articles of association and submitting to the  
   General Assembly for approval
 - Realizing the General Assembly for the Company,  
    issuing documentation that the shareholders  
    could benefit, sending minutes to demanding parties
 - Providing information to shareholders

TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
COMPLIANCE REPORT 
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 - Announcing the required Material Statement  
   Disclosures through the Public Disclosure
   Platform with due consideration of the
   Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board
   Series II, No. 15.1
 - Realizing capital increase transactions 
 - Following any amendments to the Capital Market
   Code and any relevant legislation and sharing
    them with the relevant departments in the Company. 

Any information and disclosure, which may affect the 
exercise of the shareholding rights in nature, is made 
available to the shareholders on Company’s website 
as updated. 

2.2. Exercise of the Right to Information by the 
Shareholders  
Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. implies no distinction among the 
shareholders in terms of the right to receive and examine 
any information other than the information that is trade 
secrets in nature is shared with the shareholders. 

In order to extend the right of the shareholders to 
receive information, any updated information that may 
affect the exercise of the rights is made available to the 
shareholders electronically on the Company website 
under the investor relations section. 

The shares of our Company enlisted in Borsa Istanbul 
(BIST) were registered by the Merkezi Kayıt Kuruluşu 
A.Ş., which was established to keep track of capital 
market tools in records. An agreement was concluded 
with Yapı Kredi Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. in order 
to enable the transactions of our shareholders to be 
realized in the Central Registry Agency. 

In our articles of association, it is not an individual 
right to demand the appointment of a private auditor. 
Under article 438 of the Turkish Commercial Code, 
each shareholder may ask the General Assembly to 
reveal certain occurrences through private audit 
even if such an item is not on the agenda if it is 
necessary for exercising the shareholding rights 
and if the right to receive and examine information 
has been exercised before. No demand has been 
submitted by our shareholders in this respect.

The Company operations are periodically audited by the 
Independent Auditor selected by the General Assembly. 

2.3. General Assembly Meetings
The Ordinary General Assembly and the Extraordinary 
General Assembly took place on March 25, 2014 and 
July 21, 2014, respectively. 

The rate of attendance to the Ordinary General 
Assembly, which was held on March 25, 2014 
to discuss the 2013 operations, was %68.  The 
shareholders, beneficiaries, media as well as the 

representatives of various banks and brokerage 
houses providing settlement and custody services, 
as observers, attended the assembly. During the 
meeting, the questions asked by the shareholders 
were answered. The suggestions put forward by the 
shareholders were taken into consideration in the 
Ordinary General Assembly of 2014. 

The rate of attendance to the Extraordinary General 
Assembly, which was held on July 21, 2014 to discuss 
the sales transaction pertaining to Maret Meat 
Production Plant and the land on which the Plant is 
located, was 68.35%. The agenda items were approved. 

Call for the General Assembly is made by the Board 
of Directors according to the provisions of the 
Turkish Commercial Code (TCC), Capital Market Code 
and Articles of Association of the Company. As soon 
as the Board of Directors decides to hold a General 
Assembly, an announcement is made through KAP 
(Kamuyu Aydınlatma Platformu- Public Disclosure 
Platform), informing the public. 

Moreover, at least 21 days before the General 
Assembly, the location and agenda of the General 
Assembly, draft amendments to the articles of 
association, if any, and sample power of attorney 
are  announced in the Trade Registry Gazette, and in 
addition, the Annual Report of the Board of Directors, 
Audit Report, Suggestion for Distribution of Profit, 
Corporate Governance Principles Compliance Report 
and Disclosure Policy are made available to the 
shareholders at the Company’s Head Office, on the 
Electronic General Assembly Platform of the Central 
Registry Agency and on the Company website. 

Any voter that has voting right at the General 
Assembly may present opinions about the Company 
operations and may ask questions to the Company 
management, and is responded. Each item on the 
agenda is voted separately during the meeting and 
votes are duly recorded in minutes of meeting. Our 
General Assembly is held under the supervision of the 
Representative of the Ministry of Customs and Trade. 

The minutes of the General Assembly are published 
on our website and the Electronic General Assembly 
Platform of the Central Registry Agency. Moreover, 
such minutes are also available for examination at 
the Company’s Head Office and they are delivered to 
demanding parties. 

During the Ordinary General Assembly held in 2014, 
information was provided with respect to donations 
and aids in year 2013 under a separate item on the 
agenda, the donation limit was determined as TL 
500,000 and the donation policy remained the same.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE REPORT 
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2.4. Voting Rights 
There is no privilege regarding the exercise of 
voting rights in our Company under our articles of 
association. Our shareholders do not include any 
legal entity that is our affiliate. Each shareholder is 
provided the means to exercise voting rights in the 
most convenient and appropriate manner including 
the shareholders abroad. The procedure to vote 
during the General Assembly is communicated to the 
shareholders when the assembly is starting. 

2.5. Minority Rights
Although there is no regulation regarding the minority 
rights in our Articles of Association, care is taken to 
allow the minority rights to be exercised according to 
the Turkish Commercial Code and regulations of Capital 
Market Board. Our Company received no criticism or 
complaint in this respect in year 2014. 

2.6. The Right for Dividend
There is no privilege regarding profit distribution 
in our Company. The profit distribution policy of 
our company, which is disclosed to public and also 
announced to our shareholders during the general 
assembly, is implemented within the framework of 
article 19 ‘‘Determination and Distribution of Profit’’ 
of the Articles of Association.

According to the Articles of Association of our 
Company, advance payments may be done on 
dividends, provided that the Board of Directors is 
authorized by the General Assembly to do so and 
provided that the Capital Market Board Code and 
the regulations of the Capital Markets Board in this 
respect are duly observed. Such power granted by 
the General Assembly to the Board of Directors is 
limited to the year, in which authorization is granted. 

Within the framework of the Profit Distribution 
Policy, which was adopted at the General Assembly of 
25.03.2014, the profit made as a result of our growth 
strategy will be kept by the Company for investment 
and working capital financing. As such, distribution of 
dividends in cash is not envisaged.  

2.7. Assignment of Shares
Our Articles of Association do not include any practices 
making it difficult for the shareholders to assign shares 
freely or any provisions restricting the assignment of 
shares. The regulations of the Capital Markets Board 
apply to assignment of nominative shares. 

PART III – INFORMING THE PUBLIC AND 
TRANSPARENCY 

3.1. Company Website and Content
The Company’s website (www.tatgida.com) is 

utilized actively to inform the public. The website 
contains updated and also retrospective information 
in Turkish and English. The website has a separate 
investor relations section to ensure a flow of more 
comprehensive information to the existing and 
potential investors and brokerage organizations, 
and the information as stipulated in the Corporate 
Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board 
is made available to our shareholders to inform them. 
The essential topics that may be followed up on the 
website of our Company are summarized below: 
 - Share Info
 - Trade Registry Info 
 - Articles of Association of the Company
 - Shareholder Structure of the Company
 - Board of Directors and their Curriculum Vitaes
 - Committees and Execution Principles
 - Company Organization Chart and Curriculum  
    Vitaes of Senior Managers 
 - Human Resources Policy
 - Date and Agenda of the General Assembly and  
    Explanations for the Items on the Agenda 
 - Sample Power of Attorney 
 - Minutes of the General Assembly and List of  
    Attendance 
 - Corporate Governance Principles Compliance  
    Report 
 - Disclosure Policy 
 - Annual Reports 
 - Profit Distribution Policy 
 - Periodical Financial Reports 
 - Disclosure of Material Events for Capital   
    Markets Board
 - Investor Presentation

3.2. Annual Report
The Annual Report of our Company is issued in 
accordance with the matter in the context of the 
legislation with sufficient details to enable public 
access to accurate and complete information about 
the operations of our Company. 

PART IV – BENEFICIARIES 

4.1. Informing Beneficiaries
The beneficiaries of the Company are informed 
about the matters of interest to them by inviting to 
meetings or through telecommunication as needed. 
The Audit Committee examines and concludes the 
complaints received by the Company in relation with 
the accounting, reporting and internal audit systems 
of the Company and independent audit processes. 
It assesses the notifications submitted by company 
employees about accounting, reporting, internal 
control and independent audit within the framework 
of confidentiality. 
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The beneficiaries can submit information on 
beneficiary practices that are contrary to the 
legislation or ethical standards to the Company 
management via a communication form which is 
available on the Company website and intranet, to be 
referred to the Audit Committee. 

In addition, the Audit Committee selects the 
criteria and methods to be used for examining and 
concluding complaints received by the Company 
in relation to the accounting and internal control 
system from the methods and criteria specified in 
the regulations of the Capital Markets Board, and 
for evaluating notifications of Company employees 
about accounting and independent audit, within the 
framework of confidentiality.  

4.2. Participation of the Beneficiaries into 
Management
Although there is no special mechanism for the 
participation of the beneficiaries into the management, 
the suggestions and opinions they communicate to the 
relevant departments are taken into consideration by 
our Company management, to the extent that they are 
in line with our long-term strategies. 

The opinion and agreement of the labor union is sought 
with regards to the working condition, environment and 
rights of the employees and decisions are made jointly. 
Besides, the proposal system applies indiscriminately to 
all employees and operations. 

Our Company organizes meetings with the 
customers and suppliers within a year, enabling 
mutual exchange of ideas. The suggestions of our 
customers and supplier resulting from such meetings 
are assessed. Improvements are done to provide 
customer and supplier satisfaction. 

4.3. Human Resources Policy of the Company 
In our Company, the criteria regarding employment 
and promotion are set out in writing within the 
scope of the human resources policy. The Human 
Resources Process has the following aims;
- Employing people who will carry our Company to  
  the future 
- Setting fair remuneration policies
- Assessing individual performance
- Rewarding/appreciating the successful employees
- Ensuring training and development for the 
employees in parallel with the company goals 
and necessities of the business, developing the 
qualifications of our employees and maintaining our 
leadership in global competition. The operation of 
the human resources systems determined for this 
purpose is defined by procedures and announced to 
all employees. 

The communication for human resources strategies 
and policies are maintained by Human Resource 
Department. 

The existing collective labor agreement has expired 
on 31.12.2014. Talks between our Company and the 
Tek-Gıda İş Labor Union were underway at the time 
of the drafting of this Report.

Our Human Resources department did not 
receive any complaints from the employees about 
discrimination within the year.

4.4. Code of Ethical Conduct and Social 
Responsibility
Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. ‘‘Code of Ethical Conduct and 
Principles’’ Implementation Booklet published on 
24.09.2010 was distributed to all employees and 
their acknowledgments of receipt were obtained. The 
practice is maintained including all personnel who 
began to work at the Company in 2014.   

Our Company acts to constantly improve the 
environmental performance in production and 
observes all the relevant legislation and regulations, 
addressing all activities with their dimensions as 
well. In production, necessary measures are taken 
to reduce use of natural resources and waste 
production, to constantly monitor and preserve 
the characteristics of air, water and soil. Staying 
under the legal limits, actions for improvement 
and prevention of pollution at source are taken 
to minimize the gas, liquid and solid wastes. The 
employees are provided with environmental 
awareness raising training; and social responsibility 
projects are performed jointly with the schools and 
municipalities in the districts of operations.

PART V – BOARD OF DIRECTORS

5.1. Structure and Constitution of the Board of 
Directors 
The Board of Directors defines the goals of the 
Company, oversees compliance of the company 
operations with the legislation, Articles of Association 
and the policies created, duly taking into consideration 
the long-term interests of the Company and oversees 
the performance of the management. The Board of 
Directors of our Company is structured according 
to the provision of article 11, 12, 13 of our Articles of 
Association. Arzu Aslan Kesimer, General Manager, acts 
as the executive member in the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors meets as often as necessary 
to fulfill its functions effectively. The agenda of 
the Board of Directors meetings is determined by 
the communication of the issues, which are clearly 
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mandatory for the Board of Directors to decide upon under the Articles of Association, to the Senior Management and 
Board of Directors of the Company by relevant departments. In addition, the meeting agenda may also be determined 
by the communication of a request for a decision on a specific matter by any Member of the Board of Directors to the 
Senior Management of the Company. The matters required for negotiation at the Board of Directors of the Company 
are listed by the Accounting and Finance Department, are consolidated, setting the agenda. 

Assistant General Manager, Accounting and Finance of Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. is charged with setting the agenda 
of the meetings of the Board of Directors of Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş., issuing the decisions of the Board of Directors 
made under article 390 of the Turkish Commercial Code, informing the members of the Board of Directors and 
ensuring communication. 

The Board of Directors decides to the extent necessitated by the business and in all cases, by the minimum 
number as set out by the Articles of Association. The quorum for meeting and decision-making is set out in the 
Articles of Association of the Company. 

During the meetings of the Board of Directors, each member is entitled to one vote. The reasons for the different 
opinions and dissenting votes announced are recorded in the minutes for resolution. Public disclosure takes place, 
when necessary. 

The members of the Board of Directors do not vote during the negotiation and decision-making process about 
them with respect to the scope of article 393 of the Turkish Commercial Code.

Name of the 
Board Member 

Status of 
Independence

Date of 
Appointment

Period of Duty
Duties in Board 
of Directors and 

Committees

Duties Outside the 
Company

İbrahim Tamer 
Haşimoğlu

Not independent 
member

25.03.2014
Up to the 

Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Chairman of the Board 
of Directors, Chairman of 

Executive Committee

Group – President of
Koç Holding A.Ş. Tourism, 

Food and Retail Group 

Semahat Sevim Arsel
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Deputy Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

Group – Chairman/Member 
of the Board of Directors

Mustafa Rahmi Koç
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Member of the Board of 
Directors

Group – Chairman/Member 
of the Board of Directors

Mustafa Vehbi Koç
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Member of the Board of 
Directors

Group – Chairman/Member 
of the Board of Directors

Mehmet Ömer Koç
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Member of the Board of 
Directors and Corporate 
Governance Committee

Group – Chairman/Member 
of the Board of Directors

Yıldırım Ali Koç
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Member of the Board 
of Directors and Risk 

Management Committee

Group – Chairman/Member 
of the Board of Directors

Arif Nuri Bulut
Independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 

Assembly 
Meeting

Member of the Board 
of Directors, Audit 

Committee and Risk 
Management Committee

Non-group - İzocam A.Ş.
General Manager/ Member  

Mansur Özgün
Independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Member of the Board 
of Directors, Audit 

Committee and Corporate 
Governance Committee

-

Arzu Aslan Kesimer
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Up to the 
Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting

Member of the Board 
of Directors/General 

Manager, Member of the 
Executive Committee

Group – 
Chairman/Member of the 

Board of Directors 

Masahiro Sumitomo
Not independent 

member
25.03.2014

Olağan Genel 
Kurula Kadar

Member of the Board of 
Directors

Non Group - CEO, Global
Tomato Company,
Kagome Co. Ltd.
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Chairman of the Board of Directors and General 
Management duties are performed by different 
people. Due care is exercised so that member of 
the Board of Directors spare the necessary time 
for company works and there is no limitation for 
undertaking other duties or functions outside the 
Company. Such limitation is not needed due to 
important contribution of especially professional 
experiences and sector experiences of the 
independent members to the Board of Directors. 
Before the General Assembly, information on 
the duties performed by the member outside the 
Company are submitted to the shareholders along 
with the CV of the member. The CV’s of the Member 
of the Board of Directors are included in the annual 
report of the Company and on the Company website. 

The duties of the Nomination Committee and 
Remuneration Committee are performed by the 
Corporate Governance Committee. 

The number of independent members submitted to 
Corporate Governance Committee for year 2014 is 2 
and the declarations of nomination and CV’s of such 
people were evaluated by Corporate Governance 
Committee and the Board of Directors during the 
meetings held on 25.02.2014, and it was decided that 
both of them would be evaluated as independent 
nominees for membership. In year 2014, nothing has 
arisen to eliminate independency.

Approval is received from the General Assembly 
within the scope of articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code in order to authorize the Board of 
Directors and its members to engage in businesses 
included in the area of operation of the Company, 
to engage in such operation on behalf of others and 
to become a shareholder in companies engaging in 
such businesses. Diversity of know-of, experience and 
perspective in the Board of Directors is considered 
to be an asset in terms of the operations of the 
Company and efficiency of the operation of the Board 
of Directors. We are currently evaluating the issue of 
setting a target ratio for female representation in the 
Board of Directors, which is another tool for ensuring 
that different groups are represented in the Board of 
Directors. The current ratio of female members of the 
Board of Directors is 20%. 

5.2. The Principles of Execution for the Board 
of Directors 
The Board of Directors of our Company engages in 
operations transparently, accountably, fairly and 
responsibly. The powers and responsibilities of the 
members of the Board of Directors are set out in 
the Articles of Association of our Company. The 
signature circular of the Company lays down the 
powers in detail. 

Through reports issued and meetings, the risks are 
inquired and assessed in detail. The risks that the 
Company is exposed to are followed up by the Risk 

Management Committee and the Board of Directors 
is informed about such risks. 

After the approval of all related party transactions 
and principles by the Board of Directors in year 2013, 
no change took place in 2014. In 2014, there was no 
related party transaction or material transaction that 
had to be submitted to the General Assembly as the 
independent members did not approve the same.  

The members of the Board of Directors and 
managers with signature authority are covered by 
liability insurance for any loss which may be incurred 
by the Company due to any wrongful act committed 
by the members of the Board of Directors in their 
capacity as members of the Board of Directors.

5.3. Number, Structure and Independency of
the Committees set in the Board of Directors 
The Audit Committee was established in accordance 
with the Communiqué of the Capital Markets 
Board Series II no. 14.1 to ensure the operation 
of the accounting and reporting systems in the 
Company within the framework of applicable 
laws and regulations, disclosure of the financial 
information to public, and supervision of operation 
and efficiency for the independent audit and internal 
control system. Board member Mansur Özgün has 
been appointed as the Chairman of the Committee 
and Arif Nuri Bulut as the committee member. The 
Corporate Governance Committee was established 
by a decision of the Board of Directors in line with 
the Corporate Governance Communiqué Series II 
no.17.1 of the Capital Markets Board to promote 
adherence to the principles of corporate governance, 
advising the Board of Directors on how to improve 
managerial practices, and to carry out the duties 
of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee within the framework of the Communiqué. 
The member of the Board of Directors Mansur 
Özgün has been appointed as the Chairman of the 
Committee, Mehmet Ömer Koç and Ahmet Çağaşan 
Yılmaz as the Committee members. 

The Risk Management Committee has been 
established, by a decision of the Board of Directors in 
line with article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code 
for the purpose of giving advice and suggestions to 
the Board of Directors for early identification of risks 
which may compromise the existence, development 
and sustainability of the Company; taking action on 
the reported risks and management of the risk. The 
Board member Arif Nuri Bulut has been appointed 
as the Chairman of the Committee and Yıldırım Ali 
Koç as the Committee member. Our Company has 
an Executive Committee established in order to 
follow up the Company and the industry in which it 
engages as well as to inform the Board of Directors 
if necessary; to ensure the coordination between 
the administrative structure of the Company and 
the Board of Directors and to give suggestions for 
the developing strategies suitable for the Company 
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as well as for the efficiency of the operations. The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors İbrahim Tamer 
Haşimoğlu has been appointed as chairman of the 
committee and the Board member/General Manager 
Arzu Aslan Kesimer as the committee member. 

The Company has no Committee other than the 
Audit Committee, Corporate Governance Committee, 
Risk Management Committee and Executive 
Committee. In accordance with the relevant 
Communiqué, all members of the Audit Committee 
consist independent members, the chairman of the 
Corporate Governance Committee is an independent 
member of the Board of Directors. 
The Executive Member of the Board of Directors/ 
General Manager is not a member of the Committees 
established in accordance with the applicable 
Communiqués. 

The execution principles of the committees are 
determined and published on the corporate website. 
The committees may call the related executives 
to meeting when deemed necessary under the 
execution principles. They can obtain consultancy 
service and independent opinion if necessary. 

5.4. Risk Management and Internal Control 
Mechanism
In accordance with the provisions of Turkish 
Commercial Code no. 6102 and Corporate 
Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board, 
the Risk Management Committee was established 
to submit advice and proposals to the Board of 
Directors for the early identification of the risks 
and establishment on an efficient risk management 
system. The Committee has two members, one of 
which is an independent Board member. 

The aim of the Risk Management Committee is 
to submit advice and proposals to the Board of 
Directors about early identification, evaluation, 
calculation the effects of the strategic, operational, 
financial and legal risks that may compromise the 
existence, development and sustainability of the 
Company, management and reporting of these risks 
in line with the risk profile of the Company, to take 
the necessary actions for the risks identified, to take 
such risks into consideration in decision-making and 
to set up and integrate efficient internal control 
systems. The committee assembles as often as its 
mandate necessitates.   

The Audit Committee acts for the purpose of 
operation of accounting and reporting systems 
in our company within the framework of the 
applicable laws and regulations, disclosure of the 
financial information to the public and supervision 
of operation and efficiency for an independent audit 
and internal control system.  The Audit Committee 
convenes at least four times annually, at least 
once in every three months. The results of the 
meeting are recorded and submitted to the Board of 

Directors. The Committee immediately informs the 
Board of Directors in writing about the findings and 
suggestions reached in relation to its area of duty.

5.5. Strategic Goals of the Company
The mission, vision and values of our Company 
were determined by the Senior management of the 
Company and with the knowledge of the Board of 
Directors, and they are published on the website and 
annual report of the Company. They are updated and 
revised in parallel with the developments. The efforts 
of the respective departments for the achievement  
and implementation of strategic goals of the 
Company are submitted to the Board of Directors and 
monitored by the Senior management. 

During the meetings of the Board of Directors held 
periodically, the Company’s goals and the operations 
performed are monitored by comparison of the 
performance of the previous period as well. The 
current standing of the company is reviewed and 
new goals and strategies are developed if considered 
necessary under the existing conditions. 

5.6. Financial Rights
Any rights, interests and remunerations provided 
to the members of the Board of Directors and the 
senior managers and the criteria for determining 
them and the principles of remuneration are 
defined in the ‘‘Remuneration Policy for Members 
of the Board of Directors and Senior Managers’’ 
of our Company. ‘‘The Remuneration Policy for 
the Members of the Board of Directors and Senior 
Managers’’ was submitted for consideration to our 
shareholders through an ‘‘Information document’’, 
which was published on the corporate website 
three weeks before the Ordinary General Assembly 
meeting of 25.03.2014 and was implemented 
following the General Assembly. The policy, which 
has been disclosed on the corporate website and 
annual report, will be adopted as an agenda item 
at the Ordinary General Assembly of 25.03.2015, 
which will be held to discuss the 2014 operations 
and submitted to the shareholders for their 
consideration. The payments made to the members 
of the Board of Directors and senior managers within 
the framework of the Remuneration Policy are 
assessed by the Corporate Governance Committee 
and Board of Directors every year. The payments 
made to the members of the Board of Directors 
and senior managers are disclosed in the footnotes 
of financial statements in parallel with the general 
practices. There is no transaction causing conflict of 
interest such as company borrowing, making loans 
available to our members of the Board of Directors 
or managers, or providing a guarantee on behalf of 
them. 
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İBRAHİM TAMER HAŞİMOĞLU, Chairman
After graduating from Istanbul German High School and Istanbul Technical University 
Mechanical Engineering Department, İbrahim Tamer Haşimoğlu completed his postgraduate 
studies at Istanbul University International Business Department. Having started his career 
as a management trainee at Koç Holding A.Ş. in 1989, he continued to work as a Specialist, 
Manager and Coordinator respectively. In January 2004, he was assigned as Vice President 
in Strategic Planning Group and President in Strategic Planning Group between May 
2004-April 2011. He is the President of Koç Holding A.Ş. Tourism, Food and Retail Group 
since April 2011. 

SEMAHAT SEVİM ARSEL, Deputy Chairman
Having attended the German language programs of the Goethe Institute after graduating 
from Amerikan Kız Koleji (American Academy for Girls), Semahat Arsel speaks English and 
German. Having started her career as a Member of the Board of Directors of Koç Holding in 
1964, Semahat Arsel currently acts as the Charwoman of the Board of Directors of Vehbi 
Koç Foundation, Chairwoman of the Board of Directors of the Tourism Group, Second 
President of Florence Nightingale Foundation and the President of the Semahat Arsel 
Nursing Training and Research Center. She is also the founder of the Koç University Health  
Academy.

MUSTAFA RAHMİ KOÇ, Member
He completed his postgraduate studies in Business Administration in Johns Hopkins 
University (USA). He started his career in Koç Group in 1958 at Otokoç A.Ş. He held senior 
positions in the Koç Holding. After becoming the Chairman of the Executive Committee in 
1980, he was appointed as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Koç Holding in 1984. 
And since 2003, he has been the Honorary President of Koç Holding. He was the Chairman 
of the International Chamber of Commerce between 1995-1996. Besides, he also acts as 
the Vice Chairman of Board of Trustees of Vehbi Koç Foundation, Chairman of the Board of 
Trustees of Koç University, Founder and the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Rahmi 
M. Koç Museology and Culture Foundation, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Vehbi Koç 
Foundation American Hospital, Founder and Honorary President of TURMEPA/Deniz Temiz 
Derneği (Clean Sea Association), Honorary Chairman of Higher Advisory Council of TÜSİAD 
(Turkish Industrialists’ and Businessmen’s Association), Member of the Advisory Council of 
TISK (Turkish Confederation of Employer Associations), Honorary Member of Foreign Policy 
Association, Honorary Board Member of the Metropolitan Museum of Art and Founding 
Member of Global Relations Forum Association.
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MUSTAFA VEHBİ KOÇ, Member
After graduating from Lyceum Alpinum Zuoz in Switzerland, he completed his postgraduate 
studies in 1984 with a B.A. in Business Administration at George Washington University (USA). 
He joined Koç Group in 1984 with a position at Tofaş as a Consultant and worked at Ram Dış 
Ticaret as Sales Director and Assistant General Manager in charge of Sales. In 1992, he joined 
Koç Holding, acting as the Vice President, President of various groups  as well as Member of 
the Board of Directors and Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of 
Directors in 2001 and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. He has been the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the Koç Holding since 2003. He is Honorary Chairman of Higher Advisory 
Council of TÜSİAD (Turkish Industrialists’ and Businessmen’s Association) and member of 
Istanbul Chamber of Industry and Foreign Economic Relations Board and Honorary Consul 
General of Finland in İstanbul. He is member of the Advisory Board of Kuwait International Bank, 
member of the International Advisory Board of Rolls-Royce, and member of Young Presidents 
Organization and member of JP Morgan International Counsel. The Italian Government awarded 
him the Cavaliere D’industria Badge in 2005. He is also member of the Board of Directors of 
the Vehbi Koç foundation, a medium by which the Koç family, whose contributions to economic 
and social development were awarded by the prestigious World Monuments Fund, Carnegie 
Foundation BNP Paribas, contributes to these areas. He is also a member of the trustees of 
Education Volunteers Foundation of Turkey.

MEHMET ÖMER KOÇ, Member
He graduated from Columbia College with a BA degree in 1985. He worked at Kofisa Trading for a 
year. He completed the MBA program in Columbia Business School in 1989. After working 
at Ramerica Intl. Inc. he joined Koç Holding in 1990 and he held some senior positions 
such as Financing Coordinator, Energy Group Vice President and President at Gazal A.Ş. 
In 2004, he became a member of the Board of Directors of Koç Holding. He has been the 
Deputy Chairman of Board of Directors since May 2008. Besides, he holds other positions 
such as the Chairman of the Turkish Education Foundation, Chairman of the Environmental 
Foundation, Chairman of the Yapıkredi Culture Arts and Publishing and Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Tüpraş. 

YILDIRIM ALİ KOÇ, Member
After receiving a BA degree in Business Administration at Rice University (USA), he 
completed the MBA program in Harvard University (USA).  He attended the Executive 
Training Program in American Express Bank in 1990 and 1991 and he worked as an Analyst 
at Morgan Stanley Investment Banking between 1992-1994. He held senior positions such 
as Business Development Coordinator and President of the Information Group at Koç 
Holding between  1997-2006. He was the President of Corporate Communication and 
Information Group of Koç Holding between 2006-2010 and he has been a member of the 
Board of Directors of Koç Holding since January 30, 2008.  



ARİF NURİ BULUT, Member
He graduated from Istanbul Technical University Mechanical Engineering Faculty. He 
completed his postgraduate studies at Istanbul Technical University and  the Executive 
MBA program at Koç University. He started his career at İzocam Ticaret ve Sanayii A.Ş., 
a Koç Group Company, as Production chief and Technical Assistant General Manager 
respectively. He is the General Manager of İzocam Ticaret ve Sanayii A.Ş. since 2002 and 
he is also the member of the Board of Directors of İzocam.  

MANSUR ÖZGÜN, Member
He graduated from Ankara Economics and Trade Academy, Industry Management and 
Accounting. He started his career at Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü and worked as Account 
specialist at the Ministry of Finance up to 1970. He joined Koç Group in 1971. He worked as 
Assistant Manager Finance at Koç Holding, Assistant General Manager at Ormak A.Ş. and 
Finance Coordinator at Koç Holding respectively. Mr. Özgün has worked as a Certified Public 
Accountant and a member of the Board of Directors of the Company since 2000.
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ARZU ASLAN KESİMER, Member – General Manager
She graduated from Marmara University Business Administration Department and 
completed her postgraduate studies at Boğaziçi University Economics Department.  She 
started her career at Marmara Bank in 1992, and joined Koç Group at Koçtaş Yapı Marketleri 
A.Ş. in 1995.  She worked as Marketing Director, Marketing and Store Planning Director up 
to 2010. In 2010-2011, she worked as Assistant General Manager of Trade at Koçtaş Yapı 
Marketleri A.Ş.. She has been the General Manager of Tat Gıda A.Ş. since November 1, 2011. 
She is a member of the Woman Corporate Directors Turkey, TOBB Women Entrepreneurs 
Council and Istanbul Chamber of Industry’s Assembly and Professional Committee. 

MASAHİRO SUMİTOMO, Member
He graduated from Aoyama Gakuin University Biochemistry Department. He worked as 
General Manager responsible for Quality Assurance at Kagome USA between 1990-1996, 
General Manager responsible for Business Development in Kagome Co. Ltd. in 2001-2008 
and Chairman of Vegitalia S.p.A in 2008-2013. He has been the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Kagome Co. Ltd. Global Tomato Company since April 2013.



ARZU ASLAN KESİMER,
General Manager
She graduated from Marmara University Business Administration Department and 
completed her postgraduate studies at Boğaziçi University Economics Department.  She 
started her career at Marmara Bank in 1992, and joined Koç Group at Koçtaş Yapı Marketleri 
A.Ş. in 1995.  She worked as Marketing Director, Marketing and Store Planning Director up 
to 2010. In 2010-2011, she worked as Assistant General Manager of Trade at Koçtaş Yapı 
Marketleri A.Ş.. She has been the General Manager of Tat Gıda A.Ş. since November 1, 2011. 
She is a member of the Woman Corporate Directors Turkey, TOBB Women Entrepreneurs 
Council and Istanbul Chamber of Industry’s Assembly and Professional Committee. 

AHMET ÇAĞAŞAN YILMAZ,
Assistant General Manager – Accounting and Finance 
He graduated from İstanbul Technical University Department of Business Engineering and 
completed the MBA Program at Koç University. He started his career in the Audit and 
Finance Group of Koç Holding in 2001. Up to 2011, he worked as Auditor, Senior Auditor and 
Audit Group Manager. Between 2011-2014, he worked as the Assistant Manager in charge of 
Accounting and Finance at Beko LLC. He has worked as the Assistant General Manager in 
charge of Accounting and Finance of Tat Gıda A.Ş. since July 1, 2014.  

HAKAN TURAN,
Assistant General Manager - Production
He graduated from Istanbul Technical University Mechanical Engineering Department and 
has an MSc degree from Boğaziçi University Department of Mechanical Engineering. He 
started his career at Arçelik A.Ş. in 1991 and he worked as Project Engineer, Production 
Team Leader and Production Manager in the Washing Machine Plant and as Plant Manager 
and Product Director in the Electrical Engine Plant at Arçelik A.Ş. up to 2008. He was a 
Consumer Services Director between 2008-2012 at Arçelik A.Ş.. He has been the Assistant 
General Manager in charge of Production at Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. since May 7, 2012

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT



AHMET TEKİN ÖZDENER,
Assistant General Manager – Marketing and Trade
He graduated from Gazi University Faculty of Economic and Administrative Affairs 
Department of Economy. He completed his postgraduate studies in California, USA at 
National University Department of Marketing. Having stated his career as a Project 
assistant at PEM GmbH Consulting Firm, Düsseldorf, Germany in 1988, Özdener held 
various positions such as Field Distribution Operation, Distribution, Chain Stores, Trade 
Marketing and Category Management at P&G Turkey. He worked as Client Development 
Group Manager for the Eastern Mediterranean Region at Gillette A.Ş. between 2002 – 
2006. After working as Assistant General Manager of Sales at Sütaş A.Ş. between 2006 
- 2010 he joined Tat Gıda A.Ş. as Assistant General Manager of Marketing and Trade on 
July 2,2010.  

SERTAÇ ERENMEMİŞOĞLU,
Director – Human Resources
He graduated from İstanbul Technical University Department of Industrial Engineering 
and completed his graduate studies at the Department of Engineering Management of 
the same university. Erenmemişoğlu started his career as a trainee at Koç Holding in 
1995 and worked at Koç Holding as Human Resources Specialist and Project Manager 
up to 2003. After working as Director of Human Resources at Opet Petrolcülük A.Ş. 
between 2003-2009 he became a Human Resources Coordinator at Koç Holding 
between 2009-2014. He has been the Director of Human Resources at Tat Gıda A.Ş. 
since January 13, 2014. 
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Tat Gıda considers efficient management and 
training of human resources, which will maintain 
the Company’s competitive edge in the future, 
to be strategically important. In parallel with this 
main business goal, all the systems and processes 
regarding the management of the employees are 
managed in an integrated manner. 

With over 1000 employees, the average employee 
age at Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. is 36.5 years. With a view 
to supporting the efforts aimed at increasing the 
participation of women in the labor market, Tat Gıda 
has set a target for increasing the share of female 
employees in the Company. The number of female 
employees increased in 2014 and the share of women 
among employees has reached 25%.  

Engaging in different activities in diverse regions 
of Turkey and in diverse areas of the food sector, 
our enterprises are also diversified in terms of their 
culture. There are several joint projects aimed at 
transforming this cultural diversity into an asset 
for the Company. Thus, the employees are given 
the opportunity for self-development in different 
areas or on different matters through rotation and 
projects although he/she is employed at a different 
enterprise. Tat Gıda provides career development 
opportunities to its employees engaging in different 
segments such as milk, canned food and pasta. 

While potential assessment process is being 
managed to determine and develop the leaders for 
our company, succession plans are also in place for 
managerial roles. Human resources prepare special 
development plans for the employees, who are 
candidates for such positions. 

Training and development process is one of the 
essential issues on the agenda of the Company. 
Training programs on Coaching, Leadership, 
Communication and Innovation were emphasized as 
a priority in 2014. Training periods per person for 
our white-collar and blue-collar employees increased 
considerably to provide them with development 
opportunities. Training periods per person for white-
collar employees also increased in 2014. 

The Company goals are deployed from top to bottom 
through a Performance Management System. 
The system enables all employees to be aware of 
the Company goals and work with a result-based 
approach throughout the year. 

Tat Gıda A.Ş. is using Koç Kariyerim, the internal 
posting system used in all Koç Group companies, 
actively as well. Vacant positions are posted on Koç 
Kariyerim and not only Tat Gıda employees but also 
all Koç Group employees, who meet the qualification 

requirements, can file applications. Our purpose is 
to recruit candidates who meet the qualification 
requirements and can carry the Company into the 
future; train such individuals rapidly and ensure 
that they contribute to the Company results as soon 
as possible. Our selection and placement process 
is based on our competences. Applicants, who are 
considered to meet the job requirements, are invited 
for an interview. Different tools and methods are 
used to assess to what extent the candidate meets 
the criteria. 

On the other hand, measurements take place 
regularly every year through the Employee 
Engagement Survey in order to get feedback 
from employees as well as to learn about their 
engagement and satisfaction level. The survey results 
are analyzed, improvement areas are defined and 
improvements take place within one year. In 2014, an 
Employee Engagement Survey was carried out with 
18 colleagues from different plants and centers and 
improvements were planned. 

Our reward system has been revised in order 
to recognize the success of our employees and 
appreciate them in a short period of time, to be part 
of their pleasure. The process of ‘‘Instant rewards’’ 
was presented to promote the culture of recognition 
across the Company and the role of recognition 
on employee engagement and satisfaction was 
emphasized. In 2014, 13 employees were awarded 
through the Instant Reward process. 15 candidate 
projects were assessed via another rewarding 
process, ‘‘The most successful Tat People’’ and 32 
employees who have contributed to 7 projects were 
awarded. 

Tat Gıda respects the rights of its employees to be 
organized through labor unions. It aims to maintain 
labor peace by monitoring the requirements in 
the legislation and collective contracts within the 
framework of the strong relationship with the labor 
unions and the employees relying on mutual trust. 
Tat Gıda cares for health and safety of its employees. 
It applies the legislation and regulations in parallel 
with the employee health and occupational safety 
policy and aims to develop all of its employees in this 
respect.

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
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QUALITY ASSURANCE & PRODUCT 
DEVELOPMENT & RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT & INNOVATION

Koç Innovation Program was realized in order to 
translate Koç Group’s Innovation Strategy into 
practice. After Tat Gıda was defined as a pilot 
Company for implementing the Strategy, the 
necessary infrastructure was laid out in terms of 
innovation targets, processes, strategy, training 
program, reward system, communication plan, 
innovation management team and software. The 
model, ‘‘Good Idea Innovation Platform’’, aims at 
accelerating innovation efforts and introducing 
systematic processes. The Process was announced 
to the Company employees through the ‘‘Innovation 
Management Procedure’’. Innovation areas which can 
boost growth, profits and efficiency are determined 
and innovative ideas are produced within the 
Company. ‘‘The Good Idea’’ platform is a user-friendly 
system, which was launched in September 2014 
and integrated with the R&D Platform. The system 
enables flow of information through a single system. 
Information exchange with innovation authorities 
and specialists is made possible. The ‘‘Good Idea’’ 
platform also serves as a forum where ideas are 
assessed.

Our product development strategy focuses on 
innovative products and services that surpass 
consumer and customer expectations and that 
are differentiated from competitors’ products. By 
organizing workshops at our plants, we increase the 
share of innovative products in our portfolio and file 
patent and utility model applications. We filed two 
patent and two utility model applications. 

We have ongoing R&D cooperation with TÜBİTAK, 
universities and private organizations. Pastavilla and 
Tat Plant have been audited by Gimdes and were 
found to be eligible for receiving a Halal Certificate.  

Our Plants have undergone mid-term audits with 
success for ISO 9001:2008 Quality Management 
Certificates and FSSC 22000 :Version 3 Food Safety 
Certificates. 

Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. acts in an environmentally 
friendly and socially responsible manner. In 2014, 
the Energy Management System audit for ISO 
50001:2011, which focuses on energy efficiency, 
waste prevention, minimizing energy costs and 
prioritization, increasing efficiency in use of energy 
resources to protect the environment, have been 
completed. Tat Gıda maintains its Certificate. The 
Energy Management System Certificate covers Sek 
Milk Plant, Mustafakemalpaşa Canned Food Plant, 
Karacabey Plant and Torbalı Plant.

Sek Milk Plant Audits for EU recognition continued 
to develop and promote milk export. A formal 
application was filed to export milk to the People’s 
Republic of China, and an official delegation from 
China was hosted. A formal application was filed 
to export milk to the Russian Federation and SEK 
was enlisted among recognized plants. We also 
participated in the School Milk Project. 

The employees are given training in food safety, 
field laboratory assistance, tanker driving and 
EU tanker driving. Transition to Safe Food, Good 
Manufacturing Practices (GMP), and Good Laboratory 
Practices (GLP) has been completed and automatic 
data transfer from raw milk laboratory devices was 
launched.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

INNOVATION PROGRAM
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PASTE AND CANNED FOODS PLANTS

It was established in 1967 in Mustafakemalpaşa, 
Bursa and it currently engages in operations related 
to paste ketchup, mayonnaise, tomato products 
and canned vegetables at Mustafakemalpaşa- Bursa 
and Torbalı-İzmir plants. It has also brought the 
technology to produce diced tomato into Turkey 
in 1989 and it started to produce canned diced 
tomatoes and peeled tomatoes on the same line. In 
1997-98, jam, ketchup and mayonnaise production-
filling lines were established. On the other hand, 

Magnum Diced Tomato Filling Line, the welded lid 
technology, which is found in very distinguished plant 
in the USA and only in Tat, Turkey in Europe, and 
which reduces the risk of aseptically diced tomatoes 
to one in a billion, was commissioned in 2003. Our 
plants have TS EN ISO 9001: 2008 Quality Certificate 
issued by the Turkish Standards Institute.  In 2013, 
the Company received FSSC 22000: version 3 Food 
Safety Certificate, Energy Management System – ISO 
50001:2011 Certificate and Halal Certificate from 
Gimdes. 

PLANTS
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SEK MILK AND DAIRY PLANT

It was established under the Ministry of Agriculture 
and Rural Affairs in 1963 in order to ensure the 
development of milk production in Turkey and to 
offer hygienic and natural products of the best 
quality to the consumers. In 1997, Koç Group 
purchased 68% of the SEK shares in order to pioneer 
a model, in which small and large companies operate 
together. Since May 2005, it has been maintaining 
production of milk and dairy products at the plant in 
Mustafakemalpaşa, Bursa with TS EN ISO 9001:2008 
Quality Certificate. The plant also holds FSSC 22000: 
2013 Version 3 Food Safety Certificate and Energy 
Management System ISO 50001:2011 Certificate. 
Mustafakemalpaşa Plant become the first plant in 
Turkey to produce pasteurized milk in 1968, the first 
homogenized yoghurt in 1972, the first string cheese 
in 1979 and the first salep drink in 2001. 

With the technological investments made in 2011, 
SEK used the microfiltration production technology, 
which was used in Turkey for the first time, for 
producing pasteurized milk. With the microfiltration 
production technology used by SEK for the first time 
in Turkey and with the Ultra Clean Filling Machine, 
which was also used for the first time in Turkey, 
the average shelf life of the pasteurized milk was 
extended from 5 days to ten days. SEK marked a 
first again in 2012 with the production of ayran with 
mint and chocolate milk in 2013. In 2014, it launched 
the 200 ml chocolate, banana and strawberry 
flavored pasteurized milk for children and 250 ml 
latte, caramel macchiato and chocolate mocha for 
young adults. In addition, the Company integrated a 
new, modern plant in Söke, Aydın with a 100% focus 
on cheese production into its structure operating 
together with Mustafakemalpaşa Plant in Bursa. 

PLANTS
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PASTA PLANT 

The plant, which was established in 1928 by İsmail 
Hakkı Ulukartal at Kemeraltı, was moved to the 
factory in Bornova, İzmir in 1960, where it is still 
producing pasta, semolina, durum flour and batter 
flour. In 1995, Koç Group acquired all its shares. 
Under the brand PASTAVILLA, it offers a taste 
that is very different from the traditional pasta 
and delivers high-quality thanks to its raw material. 
Pastavilla appeals to the consumer’s taste with 
brands Kartal and Lunch&Dinner and it has the TS 
EN ISO 9001:2008 Quality Certificate issued by the 
Turkish Standards Institute, FSSC 22000: Version 3 
Food Safety Certificate and Halal Certificate issued 
by Gimdes.  

PLANTS
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INNOVATIONS

Tat Vegetable Ketchup Çap Çap, the first ketchup 
with real vegetables to be produced in Turkey, was 
launched in order to preserve our leadership in 
the ketchup category. Tat embraced production 
of healthy food with a particular focus on tomato 
products, which was emphasized in product 
packaging for product which was produced 
specifically for children.  
 
Changes to packaging and form were made in the jam 
and vegetable-fruit juice categories.

AWARDS

We became the leading brand with Tat in the paste, 
sauce and canned food categories of Kalder’s 
customer satisfaction survey. 

We preserved our leadership in the tomato paste, 
ketchup and tomato products categories with Tat. We 
are the second brand in the mayonnaise and pepper 
paste categories. 

MAJOR CAMPAIGNS AND
COMMUNICATION ACTIVITIES  

In the first half of 2014 communication campaigns 
were launched for tomato products and ketchup, 
while in the last quarter of 2014 communication 
campaigns were organized for Tatköy Paste. 

INNOVATIONS & AWARDS
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INNOVATIONS

In 2014, it was aimed to become even stronger in the 
pasteurized milk category, where SEK is the leader, 
and also strengthen the brand image of SEK. In 
parallel with this goal, innovative product launches 
took place in the pasteurized milk category with SEK 
pasteurized Milk for children. It was communicated 
that SEK chocolate, strawberry and banana milk 
was produced with real chocolate and fruits by 
using different channels. A mobile game entitled 
‘‘Looking For Milk’’ was designed to address the 
young population on a  familiar platform to promote 
SEK Milk for Children. The game was presented via 
mobile advertising on Facebook and children’s TV 
channels by adding a short presentation about the 
game ‘‘Looking For Milk’’ at the end of the TV ad 
about children’s milk. The SEK storybook series, 
which began with ‘‘The Journey of Milk’’ in 2013 
continued with ‘‘The Dream Forest’’ published İN 
2014 jointly with Yapı Kredi Culture Arts Publishing. 
SEK Cold Coffee was launched. The SEK Cold Coffee 
series combine semi-skimmed pasteurized milk and 
chocolate mocha, latte and caramel macchiato. A 
licensing agreement was signed in the UHT Milk 
segment with the Angry Birds gaming brand, which is 
played by children and adults. 

AWARDS

In 2014, it received a Competence Award with SEK 
chocolate milk in the graphic design category in the 
Crescent and Stars of Packaging Awards. 

MAJOR CAMPAIGNS AND
COMMUNICATION ACTIVITIES   

SEK Next Generation Daily Milk communication 
campaign, which was launched in 2013, continued 
in 2014. The information that the shelf life of Daily 
milk was extended to 10 days was provided in the 
communication campaign. 

SEK combined real chocolate, strawberry and banana 
with pasteurized milk in 2014, and presented milk 
with real fruits and chocolate in a TV ad addressing 
children. The character ‘‘Möömu the Cow’’ was 
created using an origami technique in a manner that 
will appeal to the target group. The ad campaign was 
promoted via TV, press, digital media and stores. 

SEK Yoghurt aimed at calling on mothers who are 
looking for fresh and natural products. Television, 
radio, press, digital media and stores were used 
in the communication campaign. The campaign 
emphasized that SEK Daily milk was used in SEK 
yoghurt production. 

INNOVATIONS & AWARDS
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INNOVATIONS

Changes were made to packaging in Pastavilla Junior 
Pasta Products for children with a focus on the 
concepts of ‘‘natural and fun’’.

AWARDS

We were awarded the Crescent and Stars of 
Packaging Award with Pastavilla Whole wheat Pasta. 

INNOVATIONS & AWARDS
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together will be 
referred as “the Group”), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Turkish Accounting 
Standards (“TAS”), and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
standards on auditing issued by Capital Markets 
Board and Independent Auditing Standards which is 
a part of Turkish Auditing Standards published by the 
Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 
Authority (“POA”). Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of ABC A.Ş. and its subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2014, and of their financial performance 
and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF TAT GIDA SANAYI A.Ş.
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 
of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”), 
nothing has come to our attention that may cause 
us to believe that the Group’s set of accounts and 
financial statements prepared for the period 1 
January-31 December 2014 does not comply with 
TCC and the provisions of the Company’s articles of 
association in relation to financial reporting.

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 
of TCC, the Board of Directors provided us all the 
required information and documentation with respect 
to our audit.

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 
398 of TCC, the auditor’s report on the system and 
the committee of early detection of risk has been 
submitted to the Board of Directors of the Company 
on 20 February 2015.

DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ 
MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED 

Yaman Polat, SMMM
Partner

İstanbul, 20 February 2015
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CURRENT ASSETS Notes 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

CURRENT ASSETS 501.427.175 437.292.376

Cash and cash equivalents 6 95.098.784 10.330.825

Trade receivables 182.768.954 208.265.991

  -Due from related parties 29 124.935.047 138.097.731

  -Trade receivables from third parties 9 57.833.907 70.168.260

Other receivables 10 965.853 10.614

Inventories 11 181.598.900 159.295.645

Prepaid expenses 12 962.564 433.883

Prepaid taxes 28 5.640.247 -

Other current assets 20 34.391.873 18.973.896

Assets held for sale 27 - 39.981.522

NON CURRENT ASSETS 162.538.767 129.625.687 

Other receivables 9 76.207 74.970

Financial investments 6 3.327.374 4.564.874

Investments accounted by the equity method 13 9.156.530 -

Property, plant and equipment 14 130.506.378 108.773.384

Intangible assets 15 1.352.614 603.087

Prepaid expenses 12 163.957 90.977

Deferred tax assets 28 3.050.109 2.727.174

Other non current assets 19 14.905.598 12.791.221

TOTAL ASSETS 663.965.942 566.918.063

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2014

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

 (AMOUNTS ARE EXPRESSED IN TURKISH LIRA (TL) UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

LIABILITIES Notes
31 December 

2014
31 December 

2013

CURRENT LIABILITIES 253.169.591 224.613.441

Short term borrowings 8  56.182.743 2.265.742

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings 8  82.497.326 127.811.887

 Trade payables 86.857.734 77.120.455

  -Trade payables to related parties 29  9.052.336 7.191.710

  -Trade payables to third parties 9  77.805.398 69.928.745

Current employment benefit payables 19  3.842.937  1.601.326 

Other payables  6.561.573 5.330.786

  -Other payables to related parties 29  2.015.370 394.980

  -Other payables to third parties 10  4.546.203  4.935.806 

Deferred income 12  6.940.554 2.508.658

Current tax liabilities 28  -    1.317.107 

Short term provisions  10.286.724  2.891.230 

  -Short-term provisions for employment benefits 19 1.800.000 2.836.230

  -Other short term provisions 17 8.486.724 55.000

Liabilities related to asset groups held for sale  -   3.766.250

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 60.833.747 120.490.832

Long term borrowings 8  50.000.000 109.940.100

Long term provisions for employement benefits 19  10.833.747 10.550.732

EQUITY 349.962.604 221.813.790

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 349.962.604 201.722.586

Share capital 21  136.000.000 136.000.000

Inflation adjustment to share capital 21  21.601.088 21.601.088

Share premiums  10.107.809 10.107.809

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 1.744.091 2.981.591

  -Financial assets revaluation reserve  1.744.091 2.981.591

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  (250.666)  533.935 

  -Actuarial losses in defined benefit plan  (250.666)  533.935 

Restricted reserves 60.404 60.404

Prior years' profit 30.437.759  27.943.690 

Net profit for the period  150.262.119 2.494.069

Non-controlling interests 21  - 20.091.204

TOTAL LIABILITIES 663.965.942 566.918.063

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes
 1 January

31 December
2014

 1 January
31 December

2013

Continuing Operations

Revenue 22 817.038.173 696.073.159 

Cost of sales (-) 22 (644.807.905) (537.928.236)

GROSS PROFIT 172.230.268  158.144.923 

Marketing expenses (-) 23 (97.318.420) (91.623.336)

General administrative expenses (-) 23 (33.279.595) (27.612.398)

Research and development expenses (12.429) (20.609)

Other income from operating activities 24 22.007.506 12.124.134 

Other expenses from operating activities 24 (12.750.032) (5.635.727)

Operating Profit 50.877.298 45.376.987

Income from investing activities 25 11.118.416 9.877.527 

Expense from investing activities (-) 25 (666.535) (468.759)

Share of profit/(loss) of investments accounted
by the equity method

13 (4.343.470) 473.547 

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE EXPENSE 56.985.709 55.259.302

Financial expense (-) 26 (21.543.612) (22.905.949)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 35.442.097 32.353.353

Tax expense from continuing operations 

    Current tax expense 28 (8.303.094) (4.176.285)

    Deferred tax expense/income 28 598.373 (1.466.844)

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 27.737.376 26.710.224 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Profit/(Loss) after tax from discontinued operation 27   122.524.743 (37.004.215)

PERIOD PROFIT / (LOSS) 150.262.119 (10.293.991)

Allocation of profit /(loss) for the period

Attributable to non-controlling interests - (12.788.060)

Attributable to equity holders of the parent company 150.262.119 2.494.069 

150.262.119 (10.293.991)

(Loss) / earnings per share (TL) 1,10 (0,08)

Earnings / (loss) per share from continuing operations 0,20 0,20 

Earnings / (loss) per share from discontinued operations 0,90 (0,27)

Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)

Change in financial assets revaluation reserve (1.237.500) (375.000)

Actuarial gain/loss in defined benefit plan (784.601) 533.935 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (LOSS) 148.240.018 (10.135.056)

Allocation of total comprehensive income/(loss)

Non-controlling interests - (12.788.060)

Attributable to equity holders of the parent company 148.240.018 2.653.004

148.240.018 (10.135.056)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
(AMOUNTS ARE EXPRESSED IN TURKISH LIRA (TL) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Items that may 
be reclassified 

subsequently to 
profit or loss

Items that will 
not be reclassified 
subsequently to 

profit or loss

 
 
 
 

Note 
references

Share 
capital

Inflation 
adjustment 

to share 
capital

Share 
premium

 Financial 
assets 

revaluation 
reserve

Actuarial gain/
losses in defined 

benefit plan

Restricted 
reserves

Net profit 
for the 
period

Prior years’ 
profit

Equity 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 
the parent 
company

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2013 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 3.356.591 -   60.404 2.695.963 25.247.727 199.069.582 32.879.264 231.948.846

Transfers - - - - - - (2.695.963) 2.695.963 - - - 

Total compherensive income - - - (375.000) 533.935 - 2.494.069 - 2.653.004 (12.788.060) (10.135.056)

Balance at 31 December 2013 21 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 2.981.591 533.935 60.404 2.494.069 27.943.690 201.722.586 20.091.204 221.813.790

 

Balances at 1 January 2014 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 2.981.591 533.935 60.404 2.494.069 27.943.690 201.722.586 20.091.204 221.813.790

Transfers - - - - - - (2.494.069) 2.494.069
                                

- 
                                

- 
                                

- 

Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (20.091.204) (20.091.204)

Total compherensive income - - - (1.237.500) (784.601) -   150.262.119 - 148.240.018 - 148.240.018 

Balance at 31 December 2014 21 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 1.744.091 (250.666) 60.404 150.262.119 30.437.759 349.962.604 -   349.962.604

TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
(AMOUNTS ARE EXPRESSED IN TURKISH LIRA (TL) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Items that may 
be reclassified 

subsequently to 
profit or loss

Items that will 
not be reclassified 
subsequently to 

profit or loss

 
 
 
 

Note 
references

Share 
capital

Inflation 
adjustment 

to share 
capital

Share 
premium

 Financial 
assets 

revaluation 
reserve

Actuarial gain/
losses in defined 

benefit plan

Restricted 
reserves

Net profit 
for the 
period

Prior years’ 
profit

Equity 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 
the parent 
company

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2013 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 3.356.591 -   60.404 2.695.963 25.247.727 199.069.582 32.879.264 231.948.846

Transfers - - - - - - (2.695.963) 2.695.963 - - - 

Total compherensive income - - - (375.000) 533.935 - 2.494.069 - 2.653.004 (12.788.060) (10.135.056)

Balance at 31 December 2013 21 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 2.981.591 533.935 60.404 2.494.069 27.943.690 201.722.586 20.091.204 221.813.790

 

Balances at 1 January 2014 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 2.981.591 533.935 60.404 2.494.069 27.943.690 201.722.586 20.091.204 221.813.790

Transfers - - - - - - (2.494.069) 2.494.069
                                

- 
                                

- 
                                

- 

Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (20.091.204) (20.091.204)

Total compherensive income - - - (1.237.500) (784.601) -   150.262.119 - 148.240.018 - 148.240.018 

Balance at 31 December 2014 21 136.000.000 21.601.088 10.107.809 1.744.091 (250.666) 60.404 150.262.119 30.437.759 349.962.604 -   349.962.604

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Table continues on the next page.

Note 
references

 1 January
31 December

2014

1 January
31 December

2013

Profit before tax from continuing operations 35.442.097 32.353.353

Profir before tax before discontinued operations
(Note: 27)

126.821.784 (29.353.564)

Adjustments to reconcile profit/loss for the period

Bargain purchase gain 3 (9.324.023) -

 

Adjustments in inventory changes 11 (380.415) 1.297.664 

Adjustment regarding depreciation and amortization 14,15 9.340.861 13.697.584 

Provision for impairment of assets held for sale 27 - 18.763.830 

Adjustments related to employement benefit 19 4.968.219 3.521.971 

Provision for doubtful receivables 9 865.853 316.211 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 - 339.557 

Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment 25 (1.794.393) (1.864.509)

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 25 666.535 129.202 

Provision of lawsuits 17 1.628.014 (117.100)

Adjustment regarding unused vacation provision 19 100.000 217.971 

Adjustment regarding other provisions 17 6.803.710 - 

Share of loss/(profit) of investments accounted by 
the equity method

13 4.343.470 (473.547)

Adjustments related to dividend income 24 - (2.297.396)

Adjustments related to accrued income (6.184.155) (3.613.568)

Gain on sale of associate shares 13 - (8.029.966)

Gain on sale of non current assets held for sale 27 (145.480.622) - 

Unrealized foreign currency differences from 
financial liabilities 

(1.618.400) (466.000)

Interest income (907.723) (271.013)

Interest expense 26 21.543.612 22.905.949

Changes in working capital 46.834.424 47.056.629

TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
( AMOUNTS ARE EXPRESSED IN TURKISH LIRA (TL) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
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Table continues on the next page.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note 
references

 1 January
31 December

2014

1 January
31 December

2013

Changes in trade receivables 19.709.702 14.487.906 

Changes in related party receivables 13.162.684 (10.343.443)

Changes in inventories (19.874.379) (15.773.604)

Changes in prepaid expenses  (471.630) 3.021.346 

Change in non current assets held for sale. - (14.334.614)

Changes in liabilities related to asset groups
held for sale

(5.318.750) - 

Changes in other current and non current assets (12.230.868) (4.730.662)

Changes in trade payables 7.726.890 15.322.045 

Changes in payables to related parties 3.481.016 (66.893)

Changes in deferred revenue 4.431.896 (360.661)

Changes in employment benefit payables 2.241.611 192.195 

Changes in other liabilities (819.939) 1.641.380 

Changes in provisions for employee benefits (1.136.230) 500.553 

The cash flows from operating activities 57.736.427 36.612.177 

Employement benefits paid 19 (2.700.538) (2.508.511)

Taxes paid 28 (15.260.447) (6.267.023)

Net cash flows from operating activities 39.775.442 27.836.643 

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
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Investing Activities
Note 

references

 1 January -
31 December

2014

1 January -
31 December

2013

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

14,15 (16.887.300) (23.126.991)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets

7.390.471 17.155.617 

Acquisiton of  joint venture 27 170.615.686 - 

Cash proceeds from disposal of associate 13 (13.500.000) - 

Purchase of subsidiary 13 - 15.000.000

Cash inflows from short-term financial investments 3 (32.271.190) - 

Dividends from investments - 2.297.396 

Interest received 907.723 271.013 

Net cash flows from investing activities 116.255.390 11.597.035 

Financial Activities
Note 

references

 1 January -
31 December

2014

1 January -
31 December

2013

Cash inflows from borrowings 55.200.000 102.602.353 

Cash outflows for borrowings (154.250.533) (159.271.782)

Cash provided from bond issue 50.000.000 50.000.000 

Paid interests (22.212.340) (23.461.534)

Cash inflows from borrowings (71.262.873) (30.130.963)

Cash outflows for borrowings 84.767.959 9.302.715 

Cash provided from bond issue 6 10.330.825 1.028.110

Paid interests 6 95.098.784 10.330.825

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



57TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT



58 TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT





60 TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND 
OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP
Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. (“Tat Gıda” or “the Company”) 
was established in 1967 with the name Tat Konserve 
Sanayii A.Ş., the name change of the Company was 
decided at the extraordinary assembly meeting on 30 
October 2013 and registered on 15 November 2013. 
The Company is engaged in production, distribution, 
marketing, domestic and foreign trade and brokerage 
of semi finished goods and finished goods of such 
products; merchandise goods, food, beverage, juice, 
agricultural and animal products, frozen foods, 
dried goods, including pulverized goods and raw and 
primitive form of materials recipient and additives, 
sweet and sugar free juice and caned goods. The 
Company is registered in Turkey and is operating in 
accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code. The 
Company has 1.045 employees at 31 December 2014 
(31 December 2013: 1.044).

The domestic marketing and sales activities of the 
Company are performed by Düzey Tüketim Malları 
Sanayi Pazarlama A.Ş. (“Düzey”), a Koç Group 
company.

Koç Holding A.Ş. is the main shareholder and the 
ultimate owner of the Group.

Moova Gıda Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Moova”) the 
subsidary of the Company has operations in milk 
and diary products. Based on the decision taken at 
the meeting of Board of Directors on 1 July 2014, the 
Company signed share purchase and sale agreement 
to acquire the shares of Moova Gıda Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. (“Moova”) that representing 100% of 
the capital from Söktaş Tekstil Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş, Muharrem Hilmi Kayhan, Eyüp Hilmi Kayhan, 
Nihat Fadıl Erten ve Mehmet Yılmaz (“Sellers”) with 
amount of TL 32.271.190 (“Closing Payment”) that 
subjected to price adoption. The acquisition was 
completed at 20 August 2014.

Harranova Besi ve Tarım Ürünleri A.Ş. (“Harranova 
Besi”) the subsidary of the Company had operations 
in tomato and livestock production. Based on the 
decision taken at the meeting of Board of Directors 
on 23 June 2014, the Company signed share transfer 
agreement to sell the all shares of Harranova 
Besi, already owned 10% shares in the Harranova 
Besi’s capital, with the Morning Star Company 
(“Morningstar”) which is stated in United States 

of America, State of California (Note 27). The sale 
transaction was completed at 1 October 2014.

Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. the joint venture 
of the Company has operations in import and sale of 
fruit juice.

Parent company Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş., its subsidiary 
Moova and its joint venture Tedi İçecek Sanayi 
ve Ticaret A.Ş, will be reffered as “Group” in the 
accompanying notes. 

The shares of the Company are quoted to Istanbul 
Stock Exchange Market since 1993.

The registered office address of the Company is as 
follows:

Taşdelen Çamlık Mah. Sırrı Çelik Bulvarı No:7
34788 Çekmeköy / İstanbul / Türkiye

Approval of financial statements: 
Consolidated financial statements are authorized for 
issue by Board of Directors meeting on 20 February 
2015; on behalf of the Board of Directors Arzu Aslan 
Kesimer, Board Member, and Ahmet Çağaşan Yılmaz, 
Chief Financial Officer signed the consolidated 
financial statements. The General Assembly has 
authority to amend these consolidated financial 
statements.

NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
2.1 The Basis for Presentation
The Company and its Turkish subsidiaries maintain 
their books of account and prepare their statutory 
financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles in the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) 
and tax legislation.

The considered financial statements and notes 
have been represented in accordance with the 
communique numbered II, 14.1 “Communique on the 
Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” 
(“the Communique”) announced by Capital Market 
Boards (“CMB”) on 13 June 2013, which is published 
on official Gazette numbered 28676. In accordance 
with article 5th of communique, Turkish Accounting 
Standards/Turkish Financial Reporting standards and 
interpretations (“TAS/TFRS”) are applied.

TAT GIDA SANAYİ A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2014
( AMOUNTS ARE EXPRESSED IN TURKISH LIRA (TL) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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Additionally, consolidated financial statements and 
footnotes have prepared in accordance with formats 
issued by CMB on 7 June 2013.

The consolidated financial statements for the 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
except on the basis of historical cost convention and 
in Turkish Lira (“TL”) was prepared. Fair value of 
considerations paid for the assets is considered in 
determining the historical cost.

Reporting and Functional Currency
The individual financial statements of each Group 
entity are presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates 
(its functional currency). For the purpose of the 
consolidated financial statements, the results and 
the consolidated financial position of the Group is 
expressed in TL.

Correction of financial statements of 
hyperinflation periods
With the decision taken on 17 December 2005, the 
application of inflation accounting is no longer 
required for companies operating in Turkey and 
preparing their financial statements in accordance 
with Turkish accounting standards. Accordingly, TMS 
29 is not applied starting from 1 January 2005.

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements of
Comparative Information and Restatement of
Prior Period
In order to allow the determination of the 
financial position and performance of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared comparatively with the prior period. 
In order to comply with the presentation of the 
financial statements of the current period necessary, 
comparative figures are reclassified, and significant 
differences are explained.

In order to comply with the presentation of the 
financial statements of the current period necessary, 
comparative figures are reclassified, and significant 
differences are explained. Reclassifications have 
been made on consolidated financial statements of 
Group as of 31 December 2013 are as follows:
• TL 12.791.221 of VAT receivables has been   
 reclassified from “Other current assets” to “Other  
 non current assets”.

• TL 1.935.002 of sales advances received for future  
 periods has been reclassified from “Trade payables  
 to related parties” to “Deferred income”.

2.3 Adoption of New and Revised Turkish
Accounting Standards:
The following new and revised standards have 
been applied in the current year and have affected 
the amounts reported and disclosures in these 
financial statements. Details of other new and 
revised standards and interpretations applied in 
these financial statements that have had no material 
impact on the financial statements are also set out 
below.

(a) Amendments to IFRSs affecting amounts
reported and/or disclosures in the financial
statements
None.

(b) New and Revised IFRSs applied with no
material effect on the consolidated financial
statements

Amendments to IFRS 
10, 11, IAS 27 Investment Entities1

Amendments to IAS 
32

Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities1

Amendments to IAS 
36

Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets1

Amendments to IAS 
39

Novation of Derivatives 
and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting1

IFRIC 21 Levies1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1  
 January 2014.
2 Effective since 12 November 2014.
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Amendments to IFRS 10, 11, IAS 27 
Investment Entities
This amendment with the additional provisions of 
IFRS 10 provide ‘investment entities’ (as defined) 
an exemption from the consolidation of particular 
subsidiaries and instead require that an investment 
entity measure the investment in each eligible 
subsidiary at fair value through profit or loss.

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities
TThe amendments to IAS 32 clarify existing 
application issues relating to the offset of financial 
assets and financial liabilities requirements. 
Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of 
‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ 
and ‘simultaneous realization and settlement’.

Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
As a consequence of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurements, there are amendments in the 
explanations about the measurement of the 
recoverable amount of an impaired asset. This 
amendment is limited to non-financial assets and 
paragraphs 130 and 134 of IAS 36 has been changed. 

Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
This amendment to IAS 39 makes it clear that 
there is no need to discontinue hedge accounting 
if a hedging derivative is novated, provided certain 
criteria are met.

IFRIC 21 Levies
IFRIC 21 identifies the obligating event for the 
recognition of a liability as the activity that triggers 
the payment of the levy in accordance with the 
relevant legislation.

IAS 21 (Ammendments) The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates
Parargraph 39, article b of IAS 21 The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates has been 
ammended as follows: 
“(b) Income and expenses for each statement 
of comprehensive income or separate income 
statement presented (ie including comparatives) shall 
be translated at exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions.“

(c)  New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet 
effective
The Group has not applied the following new and 
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments5

Amendments to IFRS 
9 and IFRS 7 

Effective Date of IFRS9 
and Transition Disclosures

Amendments to IAS 19
Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions 1

Annual
Improvements to 
2010-2012 Cycle

IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, 
IFRS 13, IAS 16 and IAS 38,       
IAS 24, IFRS 9, IAS 37, IAS 
39 1

Annual
Improvements to 
2011-2013 Cycle

IFRS 3, IFRS 13, IAS 40 1

Amendments to IAS 
16 and IAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation 2

Amendments to IAS 16 
and IAS 41 and
Amendments to IAS 1, 
IAS 17, IAS 23, IAS 36 
and IAS 40

Agriculture: Bearer Plants 2 

Amendments to
IFRS 11 and IFRS 1

Accounting for Acquisition 
of Interests in Joint 
operations 2

1  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
  30 June 2014.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
   31 December 2015  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9, issued in November 2009, introduces new 
requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. IFRS 9 was amended in October 
2010 to include requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial liabilities and for 
derecognition.
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Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Effective
Date of IFRS9 and Transition Disclosures 
In November, Effective date of compulsory 
application date of IFRS 9 has been delayed as not 
being earlier than 1 January 2018. POA has not 
published this ammendment yet. 

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
This amendment clarifies the requirements that 
relate to how contributions from employees or third 
parties that are linked to service should be attributed 
to periods of service. In addition, it permits a 
practical expedient if the amount of the contributions 
is independent of the number of years of service, in 
that contributions, can, but are not required, to be 
recognised as a reduction in the service cost in the 
period in which the related service is rendered.

ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO

2010-2012 CYCLE

IFRS 2: Amends the definitions of ‘vesting condition’ 
and ‘market condition’ and adds definitions for 
‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’

IFRS 3: Require contingent consideration that is 
classified as an asset or a liability to be measured at 
fair value at each reporting date.

IFRS 8: Requires disclosure of the judgements made 
by management in applying the aggregation criteria 
to operating segments, clarify reconciliations of 
segment assets only required if segment assets are 
reported regularly.

IFRS 13: Clarify that issuing IFRS 13 and amending 
IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not remove the ability 
to measure certain short-term receivables and 
payables on an undiscounted basis (amends basis for 
conclusions only).

IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarify that the gross amount 
of property, plant and equipment is adjusted in a 
manner consistent with a revaluation of the carrying 
amount

IAS 24: Clarify how payments to entities providing 
management services are to be disclosed.

ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO

2011-2013 CYCLE

IFRS 3: Clarify that IFRS 3 excludes from its 
scope the accounting for the formation of a joint 
arrangement in the financial statements of the joint 
arrangement itself.

IFRS 13: Clarify the scope of the portfolio exception 
in paragraph 52.

IAS 40: Clarifying the interrelationship of IFRS 3 
and IAS 40 when classifying property as investment 
property or owner-occupied property.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification
of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation
This amendment clarifies that that a depreciation 
method that is based on revenue that is generated 
by an activity that includes the use of an asset is 
not appropriate for property, plant and equipment, 
and introduces a rebuttable presumption that an 
amortisation method that is based on the revenue 
generated by an activity that includes the use of 
an intangible asset is inappropriate, which can 
only be overcome in limited circumstances where 
the intangible asset is expressed as a measure 
of revenue, or when it can be demonstrated that 
revenue and the consumption of the economic 
benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated. 
The amendment also adds guidance that expected 
future reductions in the selling price of an item 
that was produced using an asset could indicate 
the expectation of technological or commercial 
obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might 
reflect a reduction of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture 
and Amendments to IAS 1, IAS 17, IAS 23, IAS 
36 and IAS 40: Bearer Plants
This amendment include “bearer plants” within the 
scope of IAS 16 rather than IAS 41, allowing such 
assets to be accounted for a property, plant and 
equipment and measured after initial recognition 
on a cost or revaluation basis in accordance with 
IAS 16. The amendment also introduces a definition 
of ‘bearer plants’ as a living plant that is used in 
the production or supply of agricultural produce, 
is expected to bear produce for more than one 
period and has a remote likelihood of being sold as 
agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap 
sales, and clarifies that produce growing on bearer 
plants remains within the scope of IAS 41.
Related sections of IAS 1, IAS 17, IAS 23, IAS 36 and 
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IAS 40 have been amended in accordance with the 
aforementioned changes in IAS 16 and IAS 41.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Effective Date 
of IFRS9 and Transition Disclosures 
In November, Effective date of compulsory 
application date of IFRS 9 has been delayed as not 
being earlier than 1 January 2017. POA has not 
published this ammendment yet. 

Amendments to IFRS 11 and IFRS 1 Accounting
for Acquisition of Interests in Joint operations 
This amendment requires an acquirer of an interest 
in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes
a business to:

• apply all of the business combinations accounting  
 principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs, except for  
 those principles that conflict with the guidance in  
 IFRS 11
• disclose the information required by IFRS 3 and  
 other IFRSs for business combinations.
 TFRS 11’de yapılan bu değişiklik TFRS 1 standardının  
 da ilgili yerlerinde değişikliklere yol açmıştır. 

Related sections of IFRS 1 have been amended in 
accordance with the aforementioned changes in IFRS 11.
The Group evaluates the effects of these standards 
on the consolidated financial statements.

2.4 Restatement and Errors in the Accounting 
Policies and Estimates
Material changes in accounting policies or material 
errors are corrected, retrospectively by restating 
the prior period consolidated financial statements. 
The effect of changes in accounting estimates 
affecting current and future periods is recognized in 
the current and future periods. There is no change 
in accounting policies of the Group in the current 
period.

2.5 Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Tat Gıda (the parent company) and the
financial statements of its subsidiary (together the 
Group). The financial statements of the companies 
included in the scope of consolidation have been 
prepared at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements, and are prepared in accordance with CMB 
Financial Reporting Standards.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control 
is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from  
 its involvement with the investee;  and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls 
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the 
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give 
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights  
 relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of  
 the other vote holders;
• potential voting rights held by the Company, other  
 vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that   
 indicate that the Company has, or does not have,  
 the current ability to direct the relevant activities  
 at the time that decisions need to be made,   
 including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
  meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Company obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Company loses control of the 
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidation statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when 
the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of the other 
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 
of of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries 
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Investment in associate is accounted for by the 
equity method of accounting. These are entities over 
which the Company generally has between 20% and 
50% of voting rights, or over which the Company has 
significant influence, but which it does not control. 
Unrealised gains that result from intercompany 
transactions between the Company and its associate 
is eliminated on consolidation, whereas unrealised 
losses are eliminated unless they do not address any 
impairment.
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The accounting policies of the Group financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies are made to, if necessary.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

The table below sets out shareholding structure of 
the subsidiaries and joint venture at 31 December 
2014:

2.6 Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies considered during the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
are as follows.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost in the 
balance sheet. Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash in hand, bank deposits and highly liquid 
investments, whose maturity at the time of purchase 
is less than three months (Note 6). 

Related Parties
For the purpose of these financial statements, 
Koç Holding A.Ş., shareholders, key management 
personnel and Board members, in each case together 
with their families and companies, associates and 

joint ventures controlled by or affiliated with them 
are considered and referred to as related parties 
(Note 29).

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. Net realizable value represents 
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs 
of completion and costs necessary to make the 
sale.  When the net realizable value of inventory is 
less than cost, the inventory is written down to the 
net realizable value and the expense is included in 
statement of income/(loss) in the period the write-
down or loss occurred.   When the circumstances 
that previously caused inventories to be written 
down below cost no longer exist or when there is 
clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value 
because of changed economic circumstances, the 
amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal 
amount is limited to the amount of the original write-
down (Note 11).

Proportion of ownership interest and 
voting power held by the Group %

Subsidiaries Principal Activity
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation

 31 December 
2014

 31 December
2013

Harranova Besi
 Tomato and livestock 

production 
 Şanlıurfa - 58,2%

Moova
Milk and dairy 

products 
Aydın 100,0% -

Proportion of ownership interest and 
voting power held by the Group %

Joint Venture
Principal 
Activity

Place of 
incorporation and 

operation

 31 December 
2014

 31 December
2013

Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve
Ticaret A.Ş.

Fruit juice 
import and 

sales
İstanbul 50,0% -
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation in the consolidated 
financial statements. Depreciation is provided on 
property, plant and equipment on a straight-line 
basis.

Depreciation is not calculated for land due to 
indefinite useful life estimation.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for 
impairment losses whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized 
for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of asset net selling price or value in use.

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and 
equipment are determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amounts and are included in operating 
profit.

Intangible assets
Computer software
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software. These costs are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives (4-8 
years).

Corporate income taxes
Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent 
company and its subsidiary to file a consolidated tax 
return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements, 
have been calculated on a separate-entity basis.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax 
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit 
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Corresponding tax bases used in the computation 

of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognized 
for all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities 
are not recognized if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint 
ventures, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax 
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognized as an 
expense or income in profit or loss, except when 
they relate to items credited or debited directly 
to equity, in which case the tax is also recognized 
directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial 
accounting for a business combination. In the case of 
a business combination, the tax effect is taken into 
account in calculating goodwill or determining the 
excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over cost.

Financial instruments

Financial assets 
Investments are recognized and derecognized 
on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an 
investment under a contract whose terms require 
delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs 
except for those financial assets classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss, which are initially 
measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following 
specified categories: financial assets as ‘at fair value 
through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity 
investments’, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial 
assets and ‘loans and receivables’.

The effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis 
for debt instruments other than those financial 
assets designated as at FVTPL. 

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset 
is classified in this category if acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives 
are also categorized as held for trading unless they 
are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are 
classified as current assets.

Held-to-maturity investments
Investments in debt securities with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity dates 
that the Group has the positive intent and ability to 

hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
investments. Held-to-maturity investments are 
recorded at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment, with revenue 
recognized on an effective yield basis.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments other than (a) held-to-maturity debt 
securities or (b) held for trading securities are 
classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale 
financial assets are measured at subsequent 
reporting dates at fair value except available-for sale 
investments that do not have quoted prices in active 
markets and whose fair values cannot be reliably 
measured are stated at cost and restated to the 
equivalent purchasing power. 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are recognized directly in equity, until the security 
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in equity is included in the profit or loss 
for the period. Impairment losses recognized in profit 
or loss for equity investments classified as available-
for-sale are not subsequently reversed through profit 
or loss.

Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss for 
debt instruments classified as available-for-sale 
are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair 
value of the instrument can be objectively related 
to an event occurring after the recognition of the 
impairment loss.

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables that are created by the Company 
by way of providing goods or services directly 
to a debtor are carried at amortized cost. Trade 
receivables, net of unearned financial income, are 
measured at amortized cost, using the effective 
interest rate method, less the unearned financial 
income. Short duration receivables with no stated 
interest rate are measured at the original invoice 
amount unless the effect of imputing interest is 
significant.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are 
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. Financial assets are 
considered to be impaired where there is objective 
evidence that, as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been affected. 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the 
amount of the impairment loss recognized is the 
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difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.

Trade receivables are considered to be impaired 
where there is objective evidence that, as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment may not be 
collected by the Group. Amount of this impairment 
loss recognized is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the estimated 
collectible amount. Estimated collectible amount 
is the present value of estimated future cash flows 
including collections from guarantees and collaterals 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced 
by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivables where 
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account. When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount 
of the allowance account are recognized in profit or 
loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity 
instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount 
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount 
of the investment at the date the impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost 
would have been had the impairment not been 
recognized. 

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, any 
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment 
loss is recognized directly in equity.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by 
the Group are classified according to the substance 
of the contractual arrangements entered into and 
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument. An equity instrument is any contract 
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The 
accounting policies adopted for specific financial 
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial 

liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where 
the financial liability is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or 
loss recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss 
recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest 
paid on the financial liability.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are 
initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, with interest expense recognized on an 
effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are 
accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination 
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the 
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the 
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for 
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized 
at their fair value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or
  liabilities related to employee benefit   
 arrangements are recognized and measured in 
 accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19
 Employee Benefits respectively;

•  liabilities or equity instruments related to share- 
 based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 
 share-based payment arrangements of the Group
 entered into to replace share-based payment
 arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
 accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at 
 the acquisition date; and
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• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as  
 held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current  
 Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations  
 are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of 
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of 
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree 
(if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit 
or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership 
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of 
liquidation may be initially measured either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognized amounts of 
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice 
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 
interests are measured at fair value or, when 
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.
When the consideration transferred by the Group 
in a business combination includes assets or 
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, the contingent consideration is 
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and 
included as part of the consideration transferred 
in a business combination. Changes in the fair 
value of the contingent consideration that qualify 
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments 
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments 
are adjustments that arise from additional 
information obtained during the ‘measurement 
period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the 
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date. 
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair 
value of the contingent consideration that do not 
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends 
on how the contingent consideration is classified. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity 
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and 
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 

37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain 
or loss being recognized in profit or loss. 
When a business combination is achieved in stages, 
the Group’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains 
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is 
recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from 
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition 
date that have previously been recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if 
that interest were disposed of.
If the initial accounting for a business combination 
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 
which the combination occurs, the Group reports 
provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts 
are adjusted during the measurement period 
(see above), or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognized, to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognized at that date. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business 
is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that 
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit 
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized 
directly in profit or loss in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not 
reversed in subsequent periods.
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the 
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of an associate is described above.

Provision for employee termination benefits
Employment termination benefits, represents the 
present value of the future probable obligation of 
the Company arising from the retirement of the 
employees calculated in accordance with the Turkish 
Labour Law, employment termination without due 
cause, call up for military service and death of the 
employees after at least one year work ( Note 19).

Classified assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations
A disposal group is a separate part of the Group in terms 
of its operations and cash flows, which is classified as 
held for sale or disposed of by the Group. A disposal 
group can be a separate operational or geographical 
segment, a part of a separate plan for the purpose of sale 
or disposal, or a subsidiary acquired for purpose of sale. 
The Group measures a non-current asset or a disposal 
group classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell (Note 27).

Provisions, Contingent assets and liabilities
Possible assets or obligations that arise from past 
events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the Company are not included in financial tables 
and treated as contingent assets or liabilities.

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a 
present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle that 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  

The amount recognized as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking 
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation.  Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it 
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

Revenue
Revenue is recognized on accrual basis at the fair 
value of the amount obtained or to be obtained based 
on the assumptions that delivery is realized, the 
income can be reliably determined and the inflow of 
the economic benefits related with the transaction to 
the Group is probable. Net sales are calculated after 
the sales returns and sales discounts are deducted.

Revenues from sale of tomato paste and canned 
foods, milk and diary products, meat and meat 
products and pasta and mealy products are 
recognized when all the following conditions are 
satisfied:

• The Group transfers the significant risks and   
 rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer,
• The Group retains neither continuing managerial  
 involvement to the degree usually associated
 with ownership nor effective control over the   
 goods sold, 
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably,
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated  
 with the transaction will flow to the entity,
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of 
  the transaction can be measured reliably.
Harranova Besi, one of the subsidiaries of the 
Group, decided to discontinue livestock operations 
in 2012 and to discontinue tomato paste and canned 
products operations as explained in detail in Note 27. 

Dividend and interest income:
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount.

Credit finance income/charges
Credit finance income/charges represent imputed 
finance income/charges on credit sales and 
purchases. Such income/charges are recognized 
as financial income or expenses over the period 
of credit sales and purchases, and included under 
financial income and expenses.

Foreign currency transactions
The individual financial statements of each Group 
entity are presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates 
(its functional currency). For the purpose of the 
consolidated financial statements, the results and 
financial position of each entity are expressed in TL, 
which is the functional currency of the Group, and the 
presentation currency for the consolidated financial 
statements.
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In preparing the financial statements of the individual 
entities, transactions in currencies other than TL 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At each balance sheet date, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise except for:

• Exchange differences which relate to assets under  
 construction for future productive use, which   
 are included in the cost of those assets where they  
 are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on  
 foreign currency borrowings;

• Exchange differences on monetary items 
 receivable from or payable to a foreign operation  
 for which settlement is neither planned nor likely 
 to occur, which form part of the net investment in 
 a foreign operation, and which are recognized 
 in the foreign currency translation reserve and 
 recognized in profit or loss on disposal of the net 
 investment.

Discontinued operations
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sales transaction not through continuing 
use. A discontinued operation is a component 
of the Group that either has been disposed of, or 
that is classified as held for sale, and represents a 
separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations; is part of a single coordinated plan 
to dispose of a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations; or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Non-current 
assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale 
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

On 14 October 2013, the decision to cease the 
operations of Harranova Besi was taken and the power 
to sell the some certain properties of Harranova Besi 
to the Company and the remaining properties to third 
parties was given to Board of Directors on 26 December 
2013. The Company reclassed these items ton on-
current assets held for sale except the transfers to the 
Company. Disposal transaction was completed on 1 
October 2014 (Note 27). 

With the decision taken on Board of Directors 
on 20 June 2014, all assets related to industrial 
segment of meat and meat products and brand 
named “Maret” was decided to be sold amounting 
to USD 75.000.000 + VAT. Sales process has been 
completed and the sales price is collected at the date 
of 4 August 2014. In this context loss from production 
of meat and meat products for the current period 
and previous period are classified as loss from 
discontinued operations.

Earnings/(loss) per share
The basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated 
by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity 
holders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

Statement of Cash Flows 
In statement of cash flow, cash flows are classified 
according to operating, investment and finance 
activities. 

Cash flows from operating activities reflect cash 
flows generated from the sales of goods and 
commodities of the Group.

Cash flows from investment activities express cash 
used in investment activities (direct investments and 
financial investments) and cash flows generated from 
investment activities of the Group.

Cash flows relating to finance activities express 
sources of financial activities and payment schedules 
of the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments which their maturities are three months 
or less from date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is 
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

2.7 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 
below.
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(a) Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment
The depreciation on property, plant and equipment is 
provided using the useful lives discussed in Note 14 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded 
using substantially enacted tax rates for the effect 
of temporary differences between book and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities. Currently, there are 
deferred tax assets resulting from operating loss 
carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences, 
all of which could reduce taxable income in the 
future. Based on available evidence, both positive 
and negative, it is determined whether it is probable 
that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will 
be realised. The main factors which are considered 
include future earnings potential; cumulative losses 
in recent years; history of loss carry-forwards and 
other tax assets expiring; the carry-forward period 
associated with the deferred tax assets; future 
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences; 
tax-planning strategies that would, if necessary, be 
implemented, and the nature of the income that 
can be used to realise the deferred tax asset. The 
Group has recognised provision for a certain portfion 
of loss carry-forwards of Moova, the subsidiary 
purchased in the current year, in accordance with its 
profitability projections (Note 28). As the operations 
of Harranova Besi ceased in 2013, a provision for 
deferred tax assets have been accounted.

NOTE 3- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Moova Gıda Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Moova”) the 
subsidary purchased by the Company has operations 
in milk and diary products. Based on the decision 
taken at the meeting of Board of Directors on 1 
July 2014, the Company purchased the shares of 
Moova Gıda Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Moova”) that 
representing 100% of the capital from Söktaş Tekstil 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş, Muharrem Hilmi Kayhan, Eyüp 
Hilmi Kayhan, Nihat Fadıl Erten ve Mehmet Yılmaz 
(“Sellers”) with amount of TL 32.271.190 (“Closing 
Payment”) that subjected to price adoption at 20 
August 2014.

Principal Activity Principal Activity
Proportion of 

ownership  
Considerations 

transfered

Moova
Milk and dairy 

products
20 August 2014 100% 32.271.190
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Acquired assets and liabilities as at the acquisition date

NOTE 4 –INTERESTS IN OTHER 
ENTITIES

The table below sets out the detailed information about the joint venture of the Group at 31 December 2014:

Moova

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 2.057.047 

Inventory 2.048.461 

Other assets 184.763 

Non current assets

Property, plant and equipment 29.849.070 

Intangible assets 360.621 

VAT receivables 6.203.230 

Deferred tax assets 1.472.120 

Other current liabilities

Trade and other payables (580.099)

Fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary 41.595.213

Minus: Consideration transferred 32.271.190

Bargain purchase gain  9.324.023

Proportion of ownership interest and 
voting power held by the Group %

Joint Venture
Principal 
Activity

Place of 
incorporation and 

operation

 31 December
2014

 31 December
2013

Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve
Ticaret A.Ş.

 Fruit juice 
import and 

sales
İstanbul 50,0% -

NOTES



74 TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING

Primary reporting format - business segment
The products of the Company have different risks 
and returns, then the below segments have been 
accepted by the Company. The Group have identified 
relevant operating segments based on internal 
reports about the components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision 
maker of the Group.
- Tomato paste and canned products
- Milk and dairy products
- Meat and meat products (*)
- Pasta and bakery products

(*) Maret trademark has been sold at 4 August 2014 
as explained in Note 27.

The Group also evaluated disclosure of geographical 
distribution of revenues for the period in addition to 
industrial segments. However, the Groups concluded 
that there is no geographical reporting segments 
since the big chain groceries and Düzey Malları 
Sanayi Pazarlama A.Ş. are the main customers of the 
Group. The Group Management evaluates financial 
results and performance based of IFRS financial 
statements. Therefore, IFRS financial statements are 
the basis of segmental reporting. 

Domestic sales and marketing activities are operated 
by the Düzey Tüketim Malları Sanayi Pazarlama 
ve Ticaret A.Ş., which is a member of Koç Group. 
Sales amount to the Düzey Tüketim Malları Sanayi 
Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. is TL 733.094.199 (31 
December 2013: TL 674.855.529).

a) For the year 1 January to 31 December 2014 Segmental analysis

Continuing Operations
Tomato paste 

and canned 
products

Milk and dairy 
products

Pasta and 
bakery 

products
Total

Revenues 315.321.541 441.328.632 60.388.000 817.038.173

Cost of sales (227.215.314) (364.195.591) (53.397.000) (644.807.905)

Gross profit 88.106.227 77.133.041 6.991.000 172.230.268 

Operating expenses (121.352.970)

Operating profit/loss 50.877.298

Discontinued Operations
Tomato paste 

and canned 
products (*)

Meat and 
meat 

products
Total

Revenues 15.514.791 61.889.554 77.404.345 

Cost of sales (17.011.074) (65.290.251) (82.301.325)

Gross profit (1.496.283) (3.400.697) (4.896.980)

Operating expenses (13.761.858)

Operating profit/loss (18.658.838)

 (*) Harranova Besi’nin salça ve konserve ürünleri faaliyetlerinden oluşmaktadır.
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For the year 1 January to 31 December 2013 Segmental analysis

Continuing Operations
Tomato paste 

and canned 
products

Milk and dairy 
products

Pasta and 
bakery 

products
Total

Revenues 241.944.832 394.274.649 59.853.678 696.073.159 

Cost of sales (168.661.388) (317.108.350) (52.158.498) (537.928.236)

Gross profit 73.283.444 77.166.299 7.695.180 158.144.923

Operating expenses (112.767.936)

Operating profit/loss 45.376.987 

Discontinued Operations
Tomato paste 

and canned 
products (*)

Meat and 
meat 

products
Total

Revenues 46.142.647 97.101.433 143.244.080 

Cost of sales (47.213.360) (89.379.899) (136.593.259)

Gross profit (1.070.713) 7.721.534 6.650.821

Operating expenses (17.240.555)

Operating profit/loss (10.589.734)

(*) It consists of tomato paste and canned products operations of Harranova Besi.

b) Segment assets 
The assets of the entity (group of entities) that 
are directly employed in the operating activities of 
the segment can be allocated to the segment on a 
reasonable basis are defined as segment assets.

Sales network and tangibles&intangibles in terms 
of the organizational structure of Tat Gıda are 
described as segment assets. 

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the 
recorded amounts of the segment assets according 
to industrial segments are as follows:

31 December 
 2014

31 December 
2013

Meat and meat 
products (1)

- 9.976.507 

Tomatoe paste and 
canned products

46.020.549 44.381.082 

Milk and dairy 
products

79.340.479 44.732.682 

Pasta and bakery 
products

4.779.579 4.966.544 

Assets that can 
not be allocated to 
departments

1.718.385 5.319.656 

131.858.992 109.376.471
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c) Segment liabilities
Described as liabilities that result from the operating 
activities of a segment and that are either directly 
attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the 
segment on a reasonable basis. 

In the general framework of the organizational structure 
of the Group and its internal financial reporting system, 
trade and other payables are analysed in the basis of 
industrial segments. As a result, reporting of segment 
liabilities are not required.

d) Depreciation and amortization and capital 
expenditures 
Depreciation and amortization of the industrial 
segment assets for the years ended 31 December 
2014 and 31 December 2013 are as follows:

1 January
31 December

2014

1 January
31 December

2013

Meat and meat 
products (1)

-   1.530.066

Tomato paste 
and canned 
products

4.343.759 8.484.444

Milk and dairy 
products

4.189.811 2.942.588

Pasta and 
bakery products

471.648 456.705

Depreciation and 
amortization 
charges that can 
not be allocated 
to segments

335.643 283.781

9.340.861 13.697.584

(1) Meet and meet products in industrial segment will be ceased after completion of sale 
processes. In this context, assets that are used in production in meet and meet products 
and liabilities that are related to these assets are classified as asset held for sale and 
liabilities are classified as liabilities held for sale in the current period (Note 27).

For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 
December 2013, investment expenditures for the 
industrial segment assets are as follows:

1 January
31 December

2014

1 January
31 December

2013

Meat and meat 
products (1) -   1.192.789

Tomato paste and 
canned products 12.615.076 7.638.176

Milk and dairy 
products 32.491.457 12.821.403

Pasta and 
bakery products 968.277 1.298.484

Capital 
expenditures 
that can not 
be allocated to 
segments

1.022.181 184.613

47.096.991 23.135.465

(1) Meet and meet products in industrial segment will be ceased after completion of sale 
processes. In this context, assets that are used in production in meet and meet products 
and liabilities that are related to these assets are classified as asset held for sale and 
liabilities are classified as liabilities held for sale in the current period (Note 27).

NOTE 6 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The details of cash and cash equivalents as of 31 
December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are as follows:

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Cash -   2.296

Banks 95.098.674 10.328.419 

 -Time deposit - TL 93.000.000 5.276.160 

-Demand deposit 
- TL 590.184 1.963.679 

-Time deposit - 
foreign currency 1.275.395 -   

-Demand deposit
- foreign currency 233.095 3.088.580 

Others 110 110

95.098.784 10.330.825
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Maturity of time deposit is between 1 January 2015 
and 27 February 2015 and the interest rate is between 
8,5%-11,60% for TL, 0,50 for USD (31 December 2013: 
Maturity of time deposit is 2 January 2014 and the 
interest rate is 7.25%).

Nature and level of risks associated with Cash and Cash 
Equivalents have been explained in Note 30.

NOTE 7 – FINANCIAL ASSESTS
The details of financial investments as of 31 
December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are as follows:

%
31 

December
2014

%
31 

December
2013

Long term
financial assets

Available for sale
financial assets

Ram Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 7,5 2.775.000 7,5 4.012.500

Düzey Tüketim 
Malları Sanayi 
Pazarlama A.Ş. 

1,1 544.641 1,1 544.641

Others 7.733 7.733

3.327.374 4.564.874

NOTE 8– FINANCIAL BORROWINGS
The details of financial borowings as of 31 December 
2014 and 31 December 2013 are as follows:

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Shor term 
borrowings

56.182.743 2.265.742

Short-term 
portion of long-
term borrowings

32.418.341 127.811.887

Bonds issued 50.078.985 -

Total short term 
borrowings 138.680.069 130.077.629

Long term 
borrowings -   59.940.100

Bonds issued 50.000.000 50.000.000 

Total long term 
borrowings 50.000.000 109.940.100

188.680.069 240.017.729

Group issued bonds on 14 March 2013 amounting 
to 50.000.000 TL with a maturity of 12 March 2015 
and 7,31% interest rate. Group issued bonds on 25 
December 2014 amounting to 50.000.000 TL with a 
maturity of 23 December 2016 and 9,68% interest rate. 

There is no mortgage given related to the Group’s 
financial liabilities (31 December 2013: None). 

The Group’s loans have fixed interest rates. Details of 
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2014 is as follows:

The 
weighted 
average 
interest 

rate

Original 
Amount

31 
December

 2014

Short term
financial borrowings

TL 
borrowings

10,08% 56.182.743 56.182.743

56.182.743

Short-term portion of
long-term borrowings

TL 
borrowings 
and interest

7,27% 16.186.041 16.186.041 

USD 
borrowings

4,25% 7.000.000 16.232.300 

Bonds 
issued

7,31% 50.000.000 50.000.000 

Interest 
of bonds 
issued

78.985 78.985 

82.497.326

Long term
financial borrowings

Bonds 
issued

9,68% 50.000.000 50.000.000

50.000.000
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The details of financial liabilities at 31 December 2013 
are as follows:

The 
weighted 
average 
interest 

rate

Original 
Amount

31 December
 2013

Short term
financial borrowings

TL 
borrowings

5,00% 2.265.742 2.265.742

2.265.742

Short-term portion of
long-term borrowings

TL 
borrowings 
and interest

10,78% 120.297.390 120.297.390

USD 
borrowings

4,25% 3.000.000 6.402.900

Interest 
of bonds 
issued

1.111.597

127.811.887

Long term
financial borrowings

TL 
borrowings

11,15% 45.000.000 45.000.000

USD 
borrowings

4,25% 7.000.000 14.940.100

Bonds 
issued

7,31% 50.000.000 50.000.000

109.940.100

As of 31 December 2014 of long-term loans 

denominated in TL currency payment plan is as follows:

TL Borrowings
USD

TL Equivalent

2016 50.000.000 - 

50.000.000 -   

As of 31 December 2013 of long-term loans 
denominated in TL currency payment plan is as follows:

TL 
Borrowings

USD
TL Equivalent

2015 95.000.000 14.940.100 

95.000.000 14.940.100 

NOTE 9- TRADE RECEIVABLES AND 
PAYABLES
The details of trade receivables are as follows as of 31 
December 2014 and 31 December 2013:

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Trade Receivables:

Trade 
receivables

15.173.815 14.524.765

Trade receivables 
from related 
parties (Note 29)

124.935.047 138.097.731

Notes and 
cheques 
receivable

39.081.882 53.951.298

Income accruals 6.184.155 3.613.568

Provisions 
for doubtful 
receivables

(2.605.945) (1.921.371)

182.768.954 208.265.991

Movement of provision for doubtful receivables as 
of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are as 
follows: 

1 January -
31 December

2014

1 January -
31 December

2013

Opening balance (1.921.371) (2.789.315)

Provisions made 
during period (865.853) (316.211)

Collections 181.279 420.301

Reclassified to 
assets held for 
sale

-   763.854 

(2.605.945) (1.921.371)
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The nature and level of risk in trade receivables are 
given in note 30. 

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, 
details of trade payables are as follows:

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Trade Payables:

Domestic 
suppliers

77.805.398 14.524.765

Foreign suppliers                  
9.052.336 

               
7.191.710 

86.857.734 77.120.455

NOTE 10 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 
PAYABLES 
As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, other 
receivables and payables are as follows:

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Other short term other receivables

Other receivables 965.853 10.614

965.853 10.614

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Long termother receivables

Deposits and 
guarantees given

76.207 74.970

76.207 74.970

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Other short term current liabilities

Accrual for 
selling expenses

2.047.748 2.184.018

Taxes and funds 
payable

2.267.862 2.186.864

Outsource 
services

59.374 474.834

Others 171.219 90.090 

4.546.203 4.935.806

NOTE 11 - INVENTORIES 
As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 with 
details of the stock is as follows:

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Raw material 50.931.787 46.345.293

Semi finished 
goods

2.453.985 1.068.748

Finished goods 127.886.092 113.373.680

-Tomato paste and 
canned products

108.515.068 96.855.068

-Milk and dairy 
products

14.588.162 12.854.378

-Meat and meat 
products

-  1.770.957

-Pasta and bakery 
products

4.782.862 1.893.277

Other inventory 1.440.390 1.693

Provision for 
inventory 
destruction (-)

(1.113.354) (1.493.769)

181.598.900 159.295.645

NOTE 12-PREPAID EXPENSES AND 
DEFERRED INCOME

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Short-term Prepaid Expenses

Advances given 
for the purchase of 
stock 

168.281   215.791 

Expenses related to 
future months 

794.283 218.092 

962.564 433.883
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 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Long-term Prepaid Expenses

 Advances given 
for fixed asset 
purchases 

- 90.977 

 Expenses related 
to future years 

163.957 - 

163.957 90.977

NOTE 13 - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY EQUITY METHOD
As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the details of investments accounted by equity pick up 
method are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest and 
voting power held by the Group %

Joint Venture
Principal 
Activity

Place of 
incorporation and 

operation

 31 December 
2014

 31 December
2013

Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

 Fruit juice 
import and 

sales 
İstanbul 50,0% -

Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve
Ticaret A.Ş. (*)

Tat Tohumculuk A.Ş. (**)

31 December
2014

31 December 
2013

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Total assets 20.583.529 - - -

Total liabilities (2.270.469) - - -

Net assets 18.313.060 - - -

The Group’s share in net assets of 
investment in associates 

9.156.530 - - -

1 January -
 31 December 

2014

1 January -
 31 December

2013

1 January -
 31 December

2014

1 January -
 31 December

2013

Revenues 8.253.362 - - 14.282.651

Net profit (8.686.940) - - 1.578.490

The Group’s share in profit/(loss) of 
investment in associates

(4.343.470) - - 473.547

 31 December
2014

 31 December 
2013

Short-term Deferred Income

Income related 
to future months

151.816 573.656 

Sales advances 
received

6.788.738 1.935.002 

6.940.554 2.508.658
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(*) To acquire 50.000 TL shares of Tedi İçecek Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Tedi A.Ş.”) which has 100.000 TL paid 
capital and wholy owned by Poland based Maspex-Gmw SP. Z.O.O. (“Maspex”), a share purchase agreement 
is signed between Maspex and the Company for an amount of 50.000 TL. After the approval of Competition 
Board, share transfer is completed and the value is paid in cash as of 16 January 2014.

Based on the joint venture agreement between Maspex and the Company, the capital of Tedi A.Ş. is increased 
from 100.000 TL to 27.000.000 TL at the Tedi A.Ş. extraordinary general assembly meeting. The Company 
paid 50% of the shares increase amounting to 13.450.000 TL on 29 January 2014. After the payment the 
share of the Company at Tedi A.Ş. increased to 13.500.000 TL.

(**) Based on the decision taken at the meeting of Board of Directors on 9 December 2013, the shares in 
the investment in associate, Tat Tohumculuk A.Ş. (nominal share amount is 390.000 TL) with capital of 
1.300.000 TL are sold to a Japan based company, Kagome Co. Ltd. with an amount of 15.000.000 TL. After 
the transaction, the Company does not have any shares in Tat Tohumculuk A.Ş. anymore. Details of gain on 
sale of the associate are as follows:

TL

NET BOOK VALUE OF THE ASSETS DISPOSED

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5.484.322

Trade receivables 10.070.470

Inventories 5.237.922

Other current assets 1.873.757

Non current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.611.556

Short Term Liabilities

Trade payables (2.755.754)

Other payables (410.602)

Long Term Liabilities

Other liabilities (591.262)

Deferred tax liabilities (286.961)

The net assets disposed of 23.233.448

Effective ownership rate 30%

The net assets disposed of 6.970.034

Sale Price

Cash and cash equivalents received 15.000.000

Gain on sale of associate 8.029.966
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NOTE 14 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
The movements of property, plant and equipment and depreciation as of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013 are as follows;

Depreciation expense amounting to TL 6.488.153 (2013: TL 8.094.959) is recognised in the cost of goods sold, 
amounting to TL 784.961 (2013: TL 530.188) is recognised in general and administrative expenses, amounting 
to TL 2.072.604 (2013: TL 2.643.140) is recognised in inventory and the remaining amount is recognised in 
discontinued operations.

9.010.996 TL of disposal of property, plant and equipment is due to disposal of Maret and has been associated 
with cash flows from discontinued operations in the cash flow statement.

1 January 2014
Acquisiton of 

subsidiary
Additions Disposals Transfers

Transfer to 
asset held for 

sale
Impairment

 31 December
2014

Cost

Land 8.325.434  13.762.350 -   (1.699.162) - - - 20.388.622

Land improvements 1.147.415  178.000 124.151  (857.235)   562.874 - - 1.155.205

Buildings 74.109.709  7.598.029 112.491  (41.181.866)   157.943 - - 40.796.306

Machinery and equipment 387.341.752  6.657.099 1.213.559  (57.736.209)   11.904.551 - - 349.380.752

Vehicles 1.078.573  -   75.288  (313.443) - - - 840.418

Furniture and fixtures 37.080.533  1.637.310 1.231.152  (12.222.061) 148.541 - - 27.875.475

Leasehold improvements 8.162.878  16.282 22.660  - 246.818 - - 8.448.638

Construction in progress 1.206.444  -   13.389.556  - (13.020.727) - - 1.575.273

518.452.738 29.849.070 16.168.857  (114.009.976) - - - 450.460.689

Accumulated Depreciation

Land improvements 2.434.738 - 136.215 (512.726) - - - 2.058.227

Buildings 49.149.320 - 1.289.176 (24.509.554) - - - 25.928.942

Machinery and equipment 317.891.606 - 6.685.395 (56.763.191) - - - 267.813.810

Vehicles 642.142 - 13.719 (483.688) - - - 172.173

Furniture and fixtures 31.265.104 - 844.760 (16.467.208) - - - 15.642.656

Leasehold improvements 8.296.444 - 42.059 - - - - 8.338.503

409.679.354 - 9.011.324 (98.736.367) - - - 319.954.311

Net book value 108.773.384 130.506.378
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1 January 2014
Acquisiton of 

subsidiary
Additions Disposals Transfers

Transfer to 
asset held for 

sale
Impairment

 31 December
2014

Cost

Land 8.325.434  13.762.350 -   (1.699.162) - - - 20.388.622

Land improvements 1.147.415  178.000 124.151  (857.235)   562.874 - - 1.155.205

Buildings 74.109.709  7.598.029 112.491  (41.181.866)   157.943 - - 40.796.306

Machinery and equipment 387.341.752  6.657.099 1.213.559  (57.736.209)   11.904.551 - - 349.380.752

Vehicles 1.078.573  -   75.288  (313.443) - - - 840.418

Furniture and fixtures 37.080.533  1.637.310 1.231.152  (12.222.061) 148.541 - - 27.875.475

Leasehold improvements 8.162.878  16.282 22.660  - 246.818 - - 8.448.638

Construction in progress 1.206.444  -   13.389.556  - (13.020.727) - - 1.575.273

518.452.738 29.849.070 16.168.857  (114.009.976) - - - 450.460.689

Accumulated Depreciation

Land improvements 2.434.738 - 136.215 (512.726) - - - 2.058.227

Buildings 49.149.320 - 1.289.176 (24.509.554) - - - 25.928.942

Machinery and equipment 317.891.606 - 6.685.395 (56.763.191) - - - 267.813.810

Vehicles 642.142 - 13.719 (483.688) - - - 172.173

Furniture and fixtures 31.265.104 - 844.760 (16.467.208) - - - 15.642.656

Leasehold improvements 8.296.444 - 42.059 - - - - 8.338.503

409.679.354 - 9.011.324 (98.736.367) - - - 319.954.311

Net book value 108.773.384 130.506.378
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The estimated useful lives of tangible assets are as follows: 

Land and land improvements 30 years 

Buildings 30 years 

Machinery and equipment 15-30 years 

Furniture and fixtures 10-12 years                                

Vehicles 9  years 

Leasehold improvements 5-8 years

1 January 2013
Acquisiton of 

subsidiary
Additions Disposals Transfers

Transfer to asset held for 
sale

Impairment
 31 December

2013

Cost

Land 8.325.434  - - -   - - - 8.325.434

Land improvements 15.175.536  - 133.861 (69.053) 1.064.862 ( 15.157.791) - 1.147.415

Buildings 78.127.115  - 887.867 - 1.967.400 ( 6.872.673) - 74.109.709  

Machinery and equipment 399.067.735  - 9.518.905 ( 13.422.396)   6.824.698 ( 14.647.190) - 387.341.752  

Vehicles 6.597.180  - 2.269 ( 56.531) - ( 5.464.345) - 1.078.573  

Furniture and fixtures 48.665.732  - 2.504.509 ( 169.546) 83.498 ( 13.442.062) (561.598) 37.080.533  

Leasehold improvements 8.162.878  - - - - - - 8.162.878  

Construction in progress 1.204.196  - 9.942.706 - (9.940.458) - - 1.206.444  

565.325.806  - 22.990.117  (13.717.526) - (55.584.061) (561.598) 518.452.738

Accumulated Depreciation

Land improvements 11.260.991 - 1.865.357 (65.971) - (10.625.639) - 2.434.738

Buildings 47.885.054 - 1.932.813 - - (668.547) - 49.149.320

Machinery and equipment 332.962.487 - 7.080.270 (13.064.077) - (9.087.074) - 317.891.606

Vehicles 2.308.838 - 420.080 (17.080) - (2.069.696) - 642.142

Furniture and fixtures 36.028.030 - 2.091.999 (131.816) - (6.501.068) (222.041) 31.265.104

Leasehold improvements 8.296.444 - - - - - - 8.296.444

438.741.844 - 13.390.519 (13.278.944) - (28.952.024) (222.041) 409.679.354

Net book value 126.583.962 108.773.384
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1 January 2013
Acquisiton of 

subsidiary
Additions Disposals Transfers

Transfer to asset held for 
sale

Impairment
 31 December

2013

Cost

Land 8.325.434  - - -   - - - 8.325.434

Land improvements 15.175.536  - 133.861 (69.053) 1.064.862 ( 15.157.791) - 1.147.415

Buildings 78.127.115  - 887.867 - 1.967.400 ( 6.872.673) - 74.109.709  

Machinery and equipment 399.067.735  - 9.518.905 ( 13.422.396)   6.824.698 ( 14.647.190) - 387.341.752  

Vehicles 6.597.180  - 2.269 ( 56.531) - ( 5.464.345) - 1.078.573  

Furniture and fixtures 48.665.732  - 2.504.509 ( 169.546) 83.498 ( 13.442.062) (561.598) 37.080.533  

Leasehold improvements 8.162.878  - - - - - - 8.162.878  

Construction in progress 1.204.196  - 9.942.706 - (9.940.458) - - 1.206.444  

565.325.806  - 22.990.117  (13.717.526) - (55.584.061) (561.598) 518.452.738

Accumulated Depreciation

Land improvements 11.260.991 - 1.865.357 (65.971) - (10.625.639) - 2.434.738

Buildings 47.885.054 - 1.932.813 - - (668.547) - 49.149.320

Machinery and equipment 332.962.487 - 7.080.270 (13.064.077) - (9.087.074) - 317.891.606

Vehicles 2.308.838 - 420.080 (17.080) - (2.069.696) - 642.142

Furniture and fixtures 36.028.030 - 2.091.999 (131.816) - (6.501.068) (222.041) 31.265.104

Leasehold improvements 8.296.444 - - - - - - 8.296.444

438.741.844 - 13.390.519 (13.278.944) - (28.952.024) (222.041) 409.679.354

Net book value 126.583.962 108.773.384
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NOTE 15 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, intangible assets are composed of software licences and the 
movements in intangible assets and accumulated amortisation as of these years ended are as follows:

1 January
2014

Acquisition
of 

subsidiary
Additions Disposals

 31 December
2014

Costs 23.223.959 360.621 718.443 (258.393) 24.044.630

Accumulated Amortization 22.620.872 - 329.537 (258.393) 22.692.016 

Net Book Value 603.087 360.621 388.906 - 1.352.614

1 January
2013

Acquisition
of 

subsidiary
Additions Disposals

 31 December
2013

Costs 23.078.611 - 145.348 - 23.223.959

Accumulated Amortization 22.313.807 - 307.065 - 22.620.872

Net book value 764.804 - (161.717) - 603.087 

Total of amortization expenses amounted to TL 329.537 are included in general administrative expenses  
(2013: TL 307.065).
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NOTE 16 - GOVERNMENT INCENTIVES 
AND GRANTS
Tat, the parent company has customs exemption 
related with imported goods, VAT exemption and 
taxes, duties, charges exceptions related with 
purchases of investment goods supplied from 
domestic markets.

NOTE 17 - COMMITMENTS AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
a) Provisions

31 December
2014

31 December 
2013

Provisions for 
lawsuits

1.683.014 55.000

Sales return 
allowances

207.774 -

Other Provisions 6.595.936 -

8.486.724 55.000

Provision for lawsuits December 31, 2014 and the 
year ended December 31, 2013 within the movement 
are as follows:

1 January -
31 December

2014

 1 January -
31 December 

2013

Opening balance 55.000 172.100 

Additions during 
the period

8.431.724 -

Classified 
assests as held 
for sale

- (117.100)

8.486.724 55.000

NOTE 18 - COMMITMENTS AND 
CONTINGENCIES
The Group has miscellaneous guarantee letters given 
to tax authorities (related to VAT return receivables), 
agriculture enterprises and customs which are 
amounting to 60.696.351 TL (31 December 2013: 
58.657.393 TL guarantee letters given).

The detail of the Company’s and its subsidiary’s 
guarantees given or contingent liabilities on the 
behalf of each other, related parties, parent company 
or third parties within the context of business 
operations or other purposes are as follows:

31 December 
2014

31 December
2013

A. On the behalf of 
legal entity

60.696.351 58.657.393 

B. On the behalf of 
associations that 
included in full 
consolidation 

- -

C. On the behalf 
of third parties’ 
liabilities within the 
context of business 
operations

- -

-Given on the behalf 
of parent company

- -

-Given on the behalf 
of other group 
companies which 
are not included in B 
and C clauses

- -

-Given on the behalf 
of third parties which 
are not included in C 
clause

- -

D. Other - -

60.696.351 58.657.393

Total guarantees given by the Group are in TL 
currency and neither any pledges nor encumbrances 
are given by the Group. Ratio of commitments and 
contingencies given by the Group to the Shareholders 
Equity on 31 December 2014 is 0% (31 December 
2013:  0%).
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NOTE 19– EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short term employee benefits:
Employee Benefit Payables

 31 December
2014

 31 December
2013

Due to 
personnel 

2.809.215 604.725 

Social security 
withholdings 
payable 

1.033.722 996.601 

3.842.937 1.601.326

Short-term provisions for employment
benefits: 

 31 December
2014

 31 December
2013

Provision for 
unused vacation

900.000 800.000 

Staff bonus 
accruals

900.000 2.036.230 

1.800.000 2.836.230

Long-term Employee Benefits
Severance pay liability:

Under the Turkish Labor Law, the Company is 
required to pay employment termination benefits 
to each employee who has qualified for such 
payment. Also, employees are required to be paid 
their retirement pay provisions who retired by 
gaining right to receive retirement pay provisions 
in accordance with the provisions set out in law 
no: 2422 issued at 6 March 1981, law no: 4447 
issued at 25 August 1999 and the amended Article 
60 of the existing Social Insurance Law No: 506. 
Some transitional provisions related to the pre-
retirement service term were excluded from the 
law since the related law was amended as of 23 
May 2002.

The amount payable consists of one month’s 
salary limited to a maximum of 3.438,22 TL for 
each period of service at 31 December 2014 (31 
December 2013: 3.254,44 TL)

Employment termination benefit liabilities are 
not subject to any funding and there are no legal 
requirements for funding of these liabilities. The 

provision has been calculated by estimating the 
present value of the future probable obligation 
of the Group arising from the retirement of the 
employees. IAS 19 requires actuarial valuation 
methods to be developed to estimate the 
enterprise’s obligation under defined benefit plans. 
Accordingly, the following actuarial assumptions 
are used in the calculation of the total liability: 

The principal assumption is that the maximum 
liability for each year of service will increase 
parallel with the inflation. Thus, the discount rate 
applied represents the expected real rate after 
adjusting for the anticipated effects of future 
inflation. Consequently, in the accompanying 
financial statements as at 31 December 2014, 
the provision is calculated by estimating the 
present value of the future probable obligation 
of the Company arising from the retirement of 
the employees. The provisions at the respective 
balance sheet dates are calculated assuming an 
annual inflation rate of 4,95% and a discount 
rate of 8,6%, resulting in a real discount rate of 
approximately 3,50% (31 December 2013: 4,78%). 

As the maximum liability is revised semi annually, 
the maximum amount of 3.541,37 TL effective 
from 1 January 2015 is taken into consideration 
in the calculation of provision from employment 
termination benefits.

Employment termination benefit liabilities are 
not subject to any funding and there are no legal 
requirements for funding of these liabilities. The 
provision has been calculated by estimating the 
present value of the future probable obligation 
of the Group arising from the retirement of the 
employees. 

NOTES



89TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Below is the movement of employment termination 
provision as of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013:

 31 December
2014

 31 December
2013

Opening balance 10.550.732 10.583.314

Service cost 4.463.894 3.127.587

Interest cost 504.325 394.384

Paid in the 
period

(2.700.538) (2.508.511)

Actuarial gains / 
(losses)

980.751 (667.419)

Reclassified to 
assets held for 
sale

(2.965.417) (378.623)

10.833.747 10.550.732

NOTE 20 - OTHER ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES 

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, other 
current / non-current assets and short / long-term 
liabilities are as follows:

Other Current Assets

 31 December
2014

 31 December
2013

Deferred VAT 25.268.704 12.635.893

Deductible VAT 6.152.170 5.548.247 

Other VAT 2.850.505 458.866

Other 120.494 330.890

34.391.873 18.973.896

 31 December
2014

 31 December
2013

Deferred VAT 14.905.598 12.791.221 

14.905.598 12.791.221 

NOTE 21 - SHAREHOLDERS ‘EQUITY

a) Share Capital 
As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the 
shareholders and paid-in capital with the historical 
values are as follows:

%
31 December

2014
%

31 December
2014

Koç 
Holding 
A.Ş.

43,7 59.364.947 43,7 59.364.947

Shares 
publicly 
open in 
stock 
exchange

31,4 42.676.800 31,4 42.676.800

Kagome 
Co. Ltd.

3,7 5.071.168 3,7 5.071.168

Temel 
Ticaret ve 
Yatırım A.Ş.

3,3 4.427.889 3,3 4.427.889

Sumitomo 
Corporation

1,5 2.077.983 1,5 2.077.983

Other 16,4 22.381.213 16,4 22.381.213

Total 
Share 
Capital

100,0 136.000.000 100,0 136.000.000

Inflation 
adjustment to 
share capital

21.601.088 21.601.088

Adjusted share 
capital

157.601.088 157.601.088

The Company’s share capital of year 2014 consists 
of 13.600.000.000 number of shares and there is no 
preferred stock (2013: 13.600.000.000 number of 
shares).
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b) Revaluation Fund
Financial Assets Revaluation Fund:

Revaluation fund financial assets is resulted from 
fair value differences of available-for-sale financial 
assets. In case of disposal of a financial assets, 
which is presented with its fair value, revaluation 
fund related with disposed financial asset is 
recorded as income or loss under the profit and 
loss statement. When there is an impairment on 
a financial asset, revaluation fund related with 
impaired financial asset is recorded under profit 
and loss statement.

c) Restricted Reserves
Restricted reserves consist of legal reserves.

The legal reserves consist of first and second legal 
reserves, appropriated in accordance with the 
Turkish Commercial Code, are not distributable 
to shareholders. The first legal reserve is 
appropriated out of historical statutory profits at 
the rate of 5% per annum, until the total reserve 
reaches 20% of the historical paid-in share 
capital. The second legal reserve is appropriated 
after the first legal reserve and dividends, at 
the rate of 10% per annum of all cash dividend 
distributions. Under the TCC, the legal reserves can 
only be used to offset losses and are not available 
for any other usage unless they exceed 50% of 
paid-in capital.

In accordance with the Communiqué No:XI-29 
and related announcements of the CMB, effective 
from 1 January 2008, “Share capital”, “Restricted 
Reserves” and “Share Premiums” shall be 
carried at their statutory amounts. The valuation 
differences resulted due to the application of the 
requirements set out in the communiqué (such as, 
inflation adjustment differences) shall be disclosed 
as follows:

- If the difference is arising due to the inflation 
adjustment of “Paid-in Capital” and not yet been 
transferred to capital should be classified under 
the “Inflation Adjustment to Share Capital”;
- If the difference is due to the inflation 
adjustment of “Restricted Reserves” and “Share 
Premium” and the amount has not been utilised in 
dividend distribution or capital increase yet, it shall 
be classified under “Retained Earnings”.

Other equity items shall be carried at the amounts 
valued in accordance with CMB Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

Capital restatement differences can only be 
included in capital.

The Group’s extraordinary reserve reclassed 
to accumulated profit is 83.269.023 TL as of 31 
December 2014 (31 December 2013: 69.591.644 TL)

Profit Distribution: 
In accordance with the Capital Markets Board’s 
(the “Board”), minimum profit distribution is not 
required for listed companies, and accordingly, 
profit distribution should be made based on the 
requirements set out in the Board’s Communiqué 
Serial:IV, No: 27 “Principles of Dividend Advance 
Distribution of Companies That Are Subject To 
The Capital Markets Board Regulations”, terms 
of articles of corporations and profit distribution 
policies publicly disclosed by the companies. 

Non-Controlling Interests 
The Group does not have any non-controlling 
interests (31 December 2013: The Group’s non-
controlling interests from Harranova and loss 
relating to non-controlling interests for the year is 
12,788,060 TL as at the balance sheet date).

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Opening balance 20.091.204 32.879.264

Net loss of 
non-controlling 
interests

(20.091.204) (12.788.060)

-   20.091.204
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NOTE 22 - SALES AND COST OF SALES 

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, 
details of revenue and sales cost are as follows: 

1 January-
31 December

2014

 1 January-
31 December

2013

Domestic sales 826.890.105 731.581.396

Foreign sales 83.103.627 45.994.530

Rebates and 
sales discounts

(92.955.559) (81.502.767)

Total operating 
revenue

817.038.173 696.073.159

Raw material 
costs

(573.824.550) (471.424.585)

Labor costs (21.640.917) (17.082.257)

General 
production 
overheads

(59.893.148) (55.009.883)

Depreciation 
cost

(8.226.363)    (7.300.493)

Change in 
inventory 

18.777.073 12.888.982 

Cost of sales (644.807.905) (537.928.236)

Gross profit 172.230.268 158.144.923

NOTE 23 - EXPENSES BY NATURE 

31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 details of 
sales cost and operating expenses are as follows:

Marketing, Selling and Distribution Expenses

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Sales incentive 
and gondola 
participation 
expenses

(33.592.767) (29.625.274)

Transportation 
and insurance 
expenses

(31.355.414) (29.917.325)

Advertisement 
expenses

(9.979.412) (13.660.178)

Sales support 
expenses

(8.794.447) (5.668.285)

Other sales 
expenses

(6.281.352) (5.849.916)

Personnel 
expenses

 (5.280.427) (4.584.355)

Sales promotion 
and commission 
expenses

(922.819) (1.214.486)

Other (1.111.782) (1.103.517)

  (97.318.420)   (91.623.336)
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For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013, the details of operating expenses are as follows:

General and administrative expenses

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Personnel 
expenses

(17.074.384) (13.881.365)

Employee 
termination 
benefits

(4.968.219) (2.977.971)

Consultancy 
and lawsuit 
expenses

(3.296.795) (3.164.113)

Transportation, 
travel expenses

(1.559.422) (1.120.727)

Depreciation 
and 
amortization 
expenses

(1.114.498) (764.253)

Repair and 
maintenance 
expense

(1.107.230) (1.409.650)

IT expenses (1.100.532) (870.780)

Taxes and duties 
expenses

(409.030) (1.250.791)

Other (2.649.485) (2.172.748)

(33.279.595) (27.612.398)

NOTE 24 - OTHER INCOME AND 
EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 details of 
other income and profits are as follows:

Other Operating Revenue

1 January-
31 December

2014

 1 January-
31 December

2013

Exchange 
differences from 
operations

2.176.256 2.347.861 

Income from 
maturity 
differences

17.921.369 5.955.720

Dividend income - 2.297.396 

Provisions 
released

134.285 189.844 

Other 1.775.596 1.333.313 

22.007.506 12.124.134

31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, details of 
other expenses are as follows: 

Other Operating Expense

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Exchange 
differences from 
operations

(1.708.447) (2.031.138)

Expense from 
maturity 
differences

(5.093.118) (2.091.879)

Scrap expenses (1.113.354) (1.493.769)

Other (4.835.113) (18.941)

(12.750.032) (5.635.727)
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NOTE 25 - INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, 
investment income and profits from operations is 
as follows:

Income from Investing Activities

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Sale income 
from property, 
plant and 
equipment

1.794.393 1.847.561 

Bargain purchase 
gain (note 3)

9.324.023 - 

Gain on sales of 
associate (note 
13)

- 8.029.966 

11.118.416 9.877.527 

Expenses from Investing Activities

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Loss on sale of 
property, plant 
and equipment

(666.535) (129.202)

Provision for 
impairment of 
property, plant 
and equipment

- (339.557)

(666.535) (468.759)

NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL EXPENSES 

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, 
financial expenses are as follows:

1 January-
31 December

2014

 1 January-
31 December

2013

Interest expense 
on bank loans

(21.543.612) (22.905.949)

(21.543.612) (22.905.949)

NOTE 27 - ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

According to the decision taken by the Board of 
Directos on 29 June 2012, the Company decided to 
stop purchases of living assets, and then decided to 
stop breeding activities of Harranova Besi ve Tarım 
Ürünleri A.Ş. On 7 December 2012 the Company 
made an agreement with an independent and CMB 
licensed expertise firm to revalue Harranova Besi’s 
property, plant and equipment related to breeding 
activities. Since the Company management made 
a sole plan, they are available for immediate sale 
and the sale of the assets are highly probable. The 
Company reclassed these items to non-current 
assets held for sale and discontinued operations. In 
addition, General Assembly and Competition Board 
approved the sale of these property, plant and 
equipments on 21 February 2013.

On 14 October 2013, the decision to cease the 
operations of Harranova Besi was taken and the 
power to sell the properties of Harranova Besi 
was given to Board of Directors on 26 December 
2013. On 13 December 2013, the Company made 
an agreement with an independent and CMB 
licensed expertise firm to revalue Harranova Besi’s 
property, plant and equipment. The Company 
reclassed these items ton on-current assets held 
for sale except the transfers to the Company.

Based on the decision taken at the meeting of 
Board of Directors on 23 June 2014, Company 
signed share transfer agreement to sell the all 
shares of Harranova Besi to The Morning Star 
Company (“Morningstar”), which had already 
owned 10% shares in the Harranova Besi’s capital 
and stated in the State of California, United States 
of America. The transfer of shares was completed 
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after the approval of the Competition Board and 
decrease in the capital of Harranova Besi on 1 
October 2014. General Assembly of Harranova 
Besi held a meeting on 11 July 2014 to discuss 
change in articles of association that is related 
to decreasing capital of Company by 92.000.000 
TL from 115.000.000 TL to 23.000.000 TL. 
Change in articles of association that is related 
to decrease in capital have been approved at the 
General Asembly meeting. Decrease of capital has 
been registered on 1 October 2014.The Company 
offset 13.837.053 payables to Harranova Besi and 
received 4.769.947 TL in return of the 18.607.000 
TL capital decrease. After the capital decrease, 
sales price of the shares of whole Koç Group 
companies in Harranova representing 90% of the 
ownership was determined 7.740.000 TL and the 
Company provided 5.000.740 TL sales income in 
return of sales of Harranova shares repressenting 
58,2%  ownership. 

With the decision taken on Board of Directors on 
20 June 2014, the land and all of the immovables 
on the land consist of 4 section, parcels with 
the number 2025 and 2028 located in İstanbul 
İli, Tuzla İlçesi, Tepeören Köyü, Gölbayırı Mevkii 
(“Land”) also, the machinery and equipments 
that are situated on the facility on the land and 
brand named “Maret” are sold amounting to 
USD 75.000.000 + VAT. With the purpose of 
recognition of sale, “Asset Sales Agreement” has 
been signed with the conditions which include 
approval of Competition Board and General Board 
and the sales advance amounting to 6 Million 
US Dollars has been collected from the buyer. In 
this framework, operations related to industrial 
segment of meat and meat products will be ceased 
following to completion of sales process. Sales 
process has been completed and the sales price 
is collected at the date of 4 August 2014. In this 
context, assets which have been used in production 
of meat and meat products and liabilities related 
to this assets are classified in this period as assets 
that held for sale and liabilities related to assets 
that held for sale; loss for the current period 
and previous period are classified as loss from 
discontinued operations.

 1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Revenue 77.404.345 143.244.080

Cost of sales (82.301.325) (136.593.259)

Gross profit (4.896.980) 6.650.821 

Operating 
expenses

- (18.763.830)

Profit before 
tax from 
discontinued 
operations

(13.761.858) (17.240.555)

Deferred tax 
effects

(18.658.838) (29.353.564)

Profit from 
discontinued 
operations

(4.297.041) (7.650.651)

(22.955.879) (37.004.215)

Income from 
the sale of non 
current assets 
held for sales (*)

170.615.686 - 

Minus: Net asset 
value of non 
current assets 
held for sale as 
at disposal date 
(Attributable to 
the Group) (**)

25.135.064 - 

Gain on sales 
of non current 
assets held 
for sale 
(Attributable to 
the Group)

145.480.622   - 

Net profit/(loss) 
after tax from 
discontinued 
operations

122.524.743 (37.004.215)

 (*) 160.844.999 TL of income is from the sale of Maret and 9.770.687 TL is 
from Harranova.
(**) 9.010.996 TL of net asset value is from Maret and 16.124.068 TL is from 
Harranova Besi.
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NOTE 28 – TAX ASSESTS AND 
LIABILITIES

 1 January-
31 December

2014

 1 January-
31 December

2013

Current tax 
expense

(8.303.094) (4.176.285)

Deferred tax 
expense

598.373 (1.466.844)

Total tax 
expense

(7.704.721)   (5.643.129)

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Current tax 
provision (*)

11.187.889 4.176.285 

Prepaid taxes and 
funds (-)

(16.828.136) (2.859.178)

Peşin ödenen 
vergi ve fonlar (-)

(5.640.247) 1.317.107 

(*) Cari kurumlar vergisi karşılığının 2.353.333 TL of corporate tax provision 
is related to discontinued operations and presented under “Profit/(loss) 
after tax from dicsontinued operations” in the income statement (31 
December 2013: None). 

Corporate Tax
The Group is subject to corporate tax applicable 
in Turkey. Turkish tax legislation does not permit 
a parent company and its subsidiaries to file a 
consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for 
taxes, as reflected in these consolidated financial 
statements, have been calculated on a separate-
entity basis.

Corporate tax is applied on taxable corporate income, 
which is calculated from the statutory accounting 
profit by adding back non-deductible expenses, 
and by deducting dividends received from resident 
companies, other exempt income and investment 
incentives utilized.

The effective tax rate in 2014 is 20% (2013: 20%).

In Turkey, advance tax returns are filed on a 
quarterly basis. The advance corporate income tax 
rate is 20% in 2014 (2013: 20%). Losses are allowed 
to be carried 5 years maximum to be deducted from 
the taxable profit of the following years. However, 
losses occurred cannot be deducted from the profit 
occurred in the prior years retroactively.
In Turkey, there is no procedure for a final and 
definitive agreement on tax assessments. Companies 

file their tax returns between 1-25 April following the 
close of the accounting year to which they relate. Tax 
authorities may, however, examine such returns and 
the underlying accounting records and may revise 
assessments within five years.

Income Withholding Tax: 
In addition to corporate taxes, companies should 
also calculate income withholding taxes and funds 
surcharge on any dividends distributed, except for 
companies receiving dividends who are Turkish 
residents and Turkish branches of foreign companies. 
Income withholding tax applied in between 24 April 
2003 – 22 July 2006 is 10% 
and commencing from 23 July 2006, this rate has 
been changed to 15% upon the Council of Mininsters’ 
Resolution No: 2006/10731. Undistributed dividends 
incorporated in share capital are not subject to 
income withholding tax. 

Withholding tax at the rate of 19,8% is still applied 
to investment allowances relating to investment 
incentive certificates obtained prior to 24 April 2003. 
Subsequent to this date, the investments without 
investment incentive certificates do not qualify for 
tax allowance.

Investment Incentives
According to the regulation, published in the 27659 
numbered Official Gazette on 1 August 2010, based 
on Law No. 6009 through article 5, the phrase 
“only 2006, 2007 and 2008 regarding years” on 
temporary article 69 of Income Tax Law No.193 
that was abolished by The Constitutional Court 
decision numbered 2009/144 published in the Official 
Gazette on January 8, is rearranged. With regard to 
rearrangement, nondeductible investment allowance 
due to insufficient income and deferred investment 
allowance amounts can be used without a year 
limitation. Investment allowance amount, which will 
be used in the determination of the tax assessment, 
will not exceed 25% profit of the concerned period. 
In addition to this, %20 corporate tax rate will be 
applied on the income after the deduction of the 
allowance.

Deferred Tax:
 The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and 
liabilities based upon temporary differences arising 
between its financial statements as reported for 
TFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial 
statements. These differences usually result in the 
recognition of revenue and expenses in different 
reporting periods for TFRS and tax purposes and 
they are given below. 

For calculation of deferred tax asset and liabilities, 
the rate of 20% (2013: 20%) is used.
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In Turkey, the companies cannot declare a 
consolidated tax return, therefore subsidiaries that 
have deferred tax assets position were not netted off 
against subsidiaries that have deferred tax liabilities 
position and disclosed separately.

The composition of cumulative temporary differences 
and the related deferred tax assets and liabilities 
in respect of items for which deferred tax has been 
provided at 31 December 2014 and 2013 using the 
enacted tax rates is as follows:

Deferred Tax Assets / Liabilities:

31 December
2014

31 December 
2013

Carry forward 
tax losses

  24.195.000   - 

Severance pay 
liability

  2.166.749   2.110.146 

Difference 
between tax base 
and carry value 
of property, plant 
and equipment

(2.116.458)   216.511 

Difference 
between tax 
base and 
carrying value 
of inventories

  279.296   131.801 

Doubtful 
receivables 
Provisions

  57.203   84.060 

Provision for 
unused vacation

  180.000   160.000 

Scrap provision   218.903   - 

Sales expense 
accruals

  409.546   - 

Staff bonus 
accrual

  180.000   - 

Provision for 
lawsuits

  178.483   11.000 

Other   24.267   13.656 

25.772.989 2.727.174 

Deferred tax 
provision for 
carry forward 
tax losses 
expected as not 
to be recovered

(22.722.880) -

3.050.109 2.727.174

Carryforward tax losses in the current year are from 
the acquisition of Moova and expiry date schedule of 
carryforward tax losses for which provision has been 
recognised is as follows:

31 December 
2014

31 December 
2013

2014 -                 
881.353 

2015 275.000 -

2016 14.700.000 15.127.183 

2017 39.235.321 11.252.128 

2018 41.662.273 -

2019 17.741.806 -

113.614.400 27.260.664

Movement of the deferred tax for the years ended 31 
December 2014 and 31 December 2013 is as follows: 

Deferred Tax Movements:

1 January
31 December

 2014

1 January
31 December

 2013

Opening balance 
as of January 1

  2.727.174   11.711.185 

Recognised 
directly in equity

  196.150   133.484 

Deferred 
tax income / 
(expense)

  598.373   (1.466.844)

Acquisition of 
subsidiary

  1.472.120   - 

Deferred tax 
expense from 
discontinued 
operations 

  (1.943.708)   (7.650.651)

  3.050.109   2.727.174 
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Total charge for the year can be reconciled to the 
accounting profit as follows: 

The Reconciliation of Tax:

1 January
31 December

 2014

1 January
31 December

 2013

Profit for the period 
from continuing 
operations

35.442.097 32.353.353

Net loss from 
discontinued 
operations (note27)

  126.821.784   (29.353.564)

20% 20%

Income tax rate 
20% (2013: 20%) (32.452.776) (599.958)

Tax effect of:

Non deductible 
expenses (1.787.584) (830.042)

Tax - exempt 
income 22.539.678 2.643.708

Effect of  deferred 
tax assets and 
carry forward 
losses for which 
provision had been 
recognised in the 
previous periods

- (14.507.488)

Additional 
corporate tax 
charge for prior 
period

(301.080) -

Tax expense in the 
income statement (12.001.762) (13.293.780)

- Tax expense 
from continuing 
operations 

(7.704.721) (5.643.129)

- Tax expense 
from discontinued 
operations 

(4.297.041) (7.650.651)

NOTE 29 - RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS 

i) As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013, the details of receivables and payables 
from related parties are as follows: 

a) Bank deposits:

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Yapı ve Kredi 
Bankası A.Ş.

94.317.636 1.491.387 

94.317.636 1.491.387

b) Financial borrowings:

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Yapı ve Kredi 
Bankası A.Ş.

747.612 15.092.686 

747.612 15.092.686 

c) Receivables from related parties

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Düzey Tüketim 
Malları Sanayi 
Pazarlama ve 
Ticaret A.Ş

123.910.142 134.677.185 

Sumitomo 
Corporation 

655.143 2.985.115 

Tedi İçecek 
Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

177.581 -   

Arçelik A.Ş. 160.001 -

Divan Turizm 
İşletmeleri A.Ş.

6.711 191.651 

Türkiye Petrol 
Rafineleri A.Ş.

-   184.980 

Other 25.469 58.800 

124.935.047 138.097.731
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d) Trade payables to related parties

31 December 
2014

31 December 
2013

Zer Merkezi 
Hizmetler ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. 
Tat Tohumculuk 
A.Ş.

6.864.440 5.544.915 

Eltek Elektrik 
Enerji. İth.İhr.
Top.Tic. A.Ş.

662.010 738.529 

Otokoç 
Otomotiv Tic.ve 
San.A.Ş.

515.552 258.953 

Temel Ticaret ve 
Yatırım A.Ş

400.017 197.402 

Koç Sistem A.Ş. 281.337 239.405 

Setur Servis 
Turistik A.Ş

173.890 21.437 

Opet Petrolcülük 
A.Ş.

39.548 51.598 

Ram Sigorta 
Aracılık Hizmetleri 
A.Ş. (*)

18.609 23.319 

Akpa Dayanıklı 
Tüketim LPG ve 
Akaryakıt 
Ürünleri 
Pazarlama A.Ş.

-   1.536 

Other 96.933 114.616 

9.052.336 7.191.710 

(*) This amount represents accrued and paid premium amount as of 31 
December 2013, which has been resulted from insurance policies signed 
with third party insurance companies with the intermediary of Ram Sigorta 
Aracılık Hizmetleri A.Ş.

e) Other payables to related parties

31 December 
2014

31 December 
2013

Koç Holding A.Ş. 2.015.370 394.980 

2.015.370 394.980 

ii) For the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2013, the details of significant sales to related 
parties and purchases from related parties are 
as follows:

a) Sales to related parties:

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Düzey Tüketim 
Malları Sanayi 
Pazarlama ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. (*)

733.094.199 674.855.529 

Sumitomo 
Corporation

14.187.380 21.049.290 

Türkiye Petrol 
Rafineleri A.Ş.

1.186.605 1.891.222 

Divan Turizm 
İşletmeleri A.Ş.

233.052 455.157

Other 10.324 128.766

748.711.560 698.379.964

(*)Domestic sales and marketing activities of the Company are operated by 
Düzey Tüketim Malları Sanayi Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş., which is a member 
of Koç Group. Average maturity for the sales to Düzey Tüketim Malları 
Sanayi Pazarlama A.Ş. is 85 days.
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b) Purchases from related parties:

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Zer Merkezi 
Hizmetler ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

8.490.342 9.327.739

Koçtaş Yapı 
Marketleri 
Ticaret A.Ş.

55.883 24.861 

Akpa Dayanıklı 
Tüketim LPG 
ve Akaryakıt 
Ürünleri 
Pazarlama A.Ş.

                            
-   

17.693 

Opet Fuchs 
Madeni Yağ 
Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

11.587 15.404 

Aygaz A.Ş. -   69.247 

Discontinued operations

Akpa Dayanıklı 
Tüketim LPG 
ve Akaryakıt 
Ürünleri 
Pazarlama A.Ş.

                            
-   

             
2.331.795 

Aygaz A.Ş.                             
-   

                  
39.270 

Türk Traktör ve 
Ziraat Makinaları 
A.Ş.

                            
-   

                  
15.254 

Otokoç Otomotiv 
Tic. Ve San. A.Ş.

                            
-   

                  
81.709 

Opet Petrolcülük 
A.Ş.

                            
-   

                
266.761 

Opet Fuchs 
Madeni Yağ 
Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

                            
-   

                  
39.595 

8.557.812 12.229.328

c) Service purchases from related parties:

1 January-
31 December

 2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Zer Merkezi 
Hizmetler ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

17.427.936 17.671.081 

Aygaz A.Ş. 11.977.567 69.247 

Koç Holding A.Ş. 2.688.047 1.392.208 

Eltek Elektrik 
Enerji. İth.İhr.
Top.Tic. A.Ş.

7.721.101 -   

Koç Sistem A.Ş. 1.324.532 1.069.280 

Ram Sigorta 
Aracılık 
Hizmetleri A.Ş. (*)

883.107 366.024 

Opet
Petrolcülük A.Ş. 790.878 832.459 

Temel Ticaret ve 
Yatırım A.Ş. 773.231 1.077.749 

Setur Servis 
Turistik A.Ş. 553.787 489.039 

Otokoç Otomotiv 
Tic. ve San. A.Ş. -   986.717 

Other 361.964 445.548 

Discontinued operations

Zer Merkezi 
Hizmetler ve 
Ticaret A.Ş.

-  160.504

Koç Sistem A.Ş. -  22.854

Ram Sigorta 
Aracılık 
Hizmetleri A.Ş. (*)

-  258.743

Setur Servis 
Turistik A.Ş.

-  46.556

Koç Holding A.Ş. -  115.327

44.502.150 25.003.336

*Amount represents accrued premium amount as of 31 December 2014, 
which has been resulted from insurance policies signed with third party 
insurance companies with the intermediary of Ram Sigorta Aracılık 
Hizmetleri A.Ş.
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iii) For the years ended 31 December 2014
and 2013, the details of financial expenses to
related parties are as follows:

a) Interest expense:

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Yapı ve Kredi 
Bankası A.Ş.

923.000 4.208.942

923.000 4.208.942

iv)  For the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2013, the details of other income and expenses
from/ to related parties are as follows:

a) Rent expense: 

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Temel Ticaret ve 
Yatırım A.Ş.

548.294 462.495

548.294 462.495 

b) Payments to key management:

1 January-
31 December

2014

1 January-
31 December

2013

Salaries and 
other short-term 
benefits

7.894.512 5.255.582

NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

a) Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities 
in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders 
through the optimization of the debt and equity 
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, 
which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 9, 
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable 
to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued 
capital, reserves and retained earnings. 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital 
are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or rearrange capital structure, 
the Company can return back capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares and sale assets in order to decrease 
debt requirement.

The Group controls its capital using the net debt/
total capital ratio. This ratio is the calculated as net 
debt divided by the total capital amount. Net debt 
is calculated as total liability amount (comprises 
of financial liabilities, leasing, trade payables and 
payables to related parties as presented in the 
balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total 
capital is calculated as shareholders’ equity plus the 
net debt amount as presented in the balance sheet.
As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 the 
debt to equity ratio is as follows:

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

Total Liabilities 188.680.069 240.017.729

Negative: 
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 
(Note 6)

(95.098.784) (10.330.825)

Net Debt 93.581.285 229.686.904

Total Equity 349.962.604   221.813.790

Net Liability/
Equity

0,2674 1,0355
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b) Financial Risk Factors
The risks of the Group, resulted from operations, 
include market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity 
risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s risk 
management program generally seeks to minimize 
the effects of uncertainty in financial market on 
financial performance of the Group. The Group uses 
derivative financial instruments in order to safeguard 
itself from different financial risks.

Risk management is implemented by finance 
department according to the policies approved by 
Board of Directors. The Group’s finance department 
provides services to the business, co-ordinates 
access to domestic and international financial 
markets, monitors and manages the financial risks 
relating to the operations of the Group through 
internal risk reports which analyses exposures 
by degree and magnitude of risks. The written 
procedures are formed by Board of Directors to 
manage the foreign currency risk, interest risk, credit 
risk, use of derivative and non-derivative financial 
instruments and the assessment of excess liquidity.

There are not any changes in financial risk factors 
and credit risk management of the Group as 
compared to previous year.

b.1) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will 
default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has 
adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral 
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults. The Group manages 
this risk by the credit limits up to the guarantees 
received from customers. The usage of credit 
limits are monitored by the Group according to the 
customer’s credibility is evaluated continuously. 

Trade receivables consist of many customers that 
operate in various industries and locations. Credit 
risk of the receivables from counterparties are 
evaluated perpetually.
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 31 December 2014

Receivables

Deposits 
in

 Banks
Derivative 

Instruments Other

Trade Receivables Other Receivables

Related 
Party

Third 
Party

Related 
Party

Third 
Party

Maximum net credit 
risk as of balance 
sheet date

124.935.047 57.833.907 - 965.853 95.098.674 - -

-The part of maximum 
risk under guarantee 
with collateral etc.

- 8.950.237 - - -

A. Net book value of 
financial assets that 
are neither past due 
nor impaired

124.935.047 55.381.427 - 965.853 - - -

B. Carrying value of 
financial assets that 
are past due
but not impaired

8.762.743 2.452.480 - - - - -

C. Net book value of 
impaired assets

-Past due (gross 
carrying amount)

- 2.605.945 - - - - -

- Impairment (-) - (2.605.945) - - - - -

- The part of net value 
under guarantee with 
collateral etc

- - - - - - -

-Not past due (gross 
carrying amount)

- - - - - - -

- The part of net value 
under guarantee with 
collateral etc.

- - - - - - -

D.Off-balances sheet 
items with credit risk

- - - - - - -
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 31 December 2013

Receivables

Deposits 
in

 Banks
Derivative 

Instruments Other

Trade Receivables Other Receivables

Related 
Party

Third 
Party

Related 
Party

Third 
Party

Maximum net credit 
risk as of balance 
sheet date

138.097.731 70.168.260 - 10.614 10.328.419 - -

-The part of maximum 
risk under guarantee 
with collateral etc.

- 12.421.401 - - -

A. Net book value of 
financial assets that 
are neither past due 
nor impaired

138.097.731 67.913.114 - 10.614 - - -

B. Carrying value of 
financial assets that 
are past due
but not impaired

- 2.255.146 - - - - -

C. Net book value of 
impaired assets

-Past due (gross 
carrying amount)

- 1.921.371 - - - - -

- Impairment (-) - (1.921.371) - - - - -

- The part of net value 
under guarantee with 
collateral etc

- - - - - - -

-Not past due (gross 
carrying amount)

- - - - - - -

- The part of net value 
under guarantee with 
collateral etc.

- - - - - - -

D.Off-balances sheet 
items with credit risk

- - - - - - -

NOTES



104 TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

31 December 
2014

Receivables
Deposits 

in
 Banks

Derivative

Instruments

Other TotalTrade Receivables Other Receivables

Past due 1-30 days 1.866.830 - - - - 1.866.830

Past due  1-3 
months

9.199.251 - - - - 9.199.251

Past due 3-12 
months

149.142 - - - - 149.142

Past due 1-5 
years

- - - - - -

Past due more 
than 5 years

- - - - - -

Total past due 
receivables

11.215.223 - - - - 11.215.223

The part under 
guarantee with 
collateral

1.823.094 - - - - 1.823.094

31 December 
2013

Receivables
Deposits 

in
 Banks

Derivative

Instruments

Other TotalTrade Receivables Other Receivables

Past due 1-30 days 1.201.577 - - - - 1.201.577 

Past due  1-3 
months

396.744 - - - - 396.744 

Past due 3-12 
months

656.825 - - - - 656.825 

Past due 1-5 
years

- - - - - -

Past due more 
than 5 years

- - - - - -

Total past due 
receivables

2.255.146 - - - - 2.255.146 

The part under 
guarantee with 
collateral

2.255.146 - - - - 2.255.146 
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As of balance sheet date, letter of guarantees held for the trade receivables that are past due as but not 
provision booked is as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

The part under 
guarantee wtih 
collateral

  1.823.094   6.883.397 

b.2) Liquidity risk management  
Liquidity risk management responsibility mainly belongs to the board of directors. The board of directors 
has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, 
medium and long term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities. Line of 
credits that are ready to use the liquidity requirements of the Group are disclosed in note 8.

The following table presents the maturity of Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 

31 December 2014 

Contractual 
Maturity 
Analysis

Carrying
Value

Total Cash 
Outflow

According 
to the 

contract 
(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 3
months (I)

3-12 
months (II)

1-5 
years(III)

More 
than 5 
Years
(IV)

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Bank borrowings   188.680.069 202.822.467 116.490.318 31.504.949 54.827.200 -

Trade payables     77.805.398 77.805.398 77.805.398 - - -

Trade payables to 
related parties

      9.052.336 9.052.336 9.052.336 - - -

Total liabilities 275.537.803 289.680.201 203.348.052 31.504.949 54.827.200 -
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31 December 2013

Contractual 
Maturity 
Analysis

Carrying
Value

Total Cash 
Outflow

According 
to the 

contract 
(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 3
months (I)

3-12 
months (II)

1-5 
years(III)

More 
than 5 
Years
(IV)

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Bank borrowings   240.017.729 246.999.488 11.678.834 122.903.784 112.416.870 -

Trade payables     69.928.745 69.928.745  69.928.745 - - -

Trade payables to 
related parties

 7.191.710 7.191.710   7.191.710 - - -

Total liabilities 317.138.184 324.119.943 88.799.289 122.903.784 112.416.870 -

b.3) Market risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including foreign currency risk and interest rate 
risk as explained below. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures 
in order to manage foreign currency and interest rate risks. Market risk exposures are also measured by 
sensitivity analysis and stress scenarios.

There has been no change in the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner which it manages and 
measures the risk.

b.4) Foreign currency risk management 
Transactions in foreign currencies cause foreign currency risk. 

NOTES



107TAT GIDA 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

The foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of monetary and non-monetary items are as follows:

31 December 2014
Total

TL 
Equivalent

USD
TL 

Equivalent

Euro
TL 

Equivalent
Other

1. Trade Receivables 5.092.228 1.892.700 249.288 22 

2.a Monetary financial assets 2.008.616 853.696 9.782 386 

2.b Non-monetary financial assets  -  -  -  - 

3. Other  -  -  -  - 

4. CURRENT ASSETS 7.100.844 2.746.396 259.070 408 

5. Trade Receivables -   -   -   -  

6.a Monetary Financial Assets -   -   -   -   

6.b Non-Monetary Financial Assets -   -   -   -   

7. Other -   -   -   -   

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS -   -   -   -   

9. TOTAL ASSETS 7.100.844 2.746.396 259.070 408 

10. Trade Payables (2.022.586) (871.202) (835) -   

11. Financial Liabilities (16.248.397) (7.006.942) -   -   

12.a Other Monetary Financial Liabilities (6.967.696) (3.004.741) -   -   

12.b Other Non-monetary Financial Liabilities -   -   -   -   

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES (25.238.679) (10.882.885) (835) -   

14. Trade Payables -   -   -   -   

15. Financial Liabilities -   -   -   -   

16.a Other Monetary Financial Liabilities -   -   -   -   

16.b Other Non-monetary Financial Liabilities -   -   -   -   

17. NON CURRENT LIABILITIES -   -   -   -   

18. TOTAL LIABILITIES (25.238.679) (10.882.885) (835) -   

19. Net asset /liability position of off-balance sheet derivatives 
(19a-19b) - - - -

19.a Off-balance sheet foreign currency derivative assets -   -   -   -   

19.b Off balance sheet foreign currency derivative liabilities -   -   -   -   

20. Net foreign currency asset/liability position                  (18.137.835)   (8.136.489) 258.235 408

21. Net foreign currency asset/ liability position of non monetary 
items (1+2a+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (18.137.835)   (8.136.489) 258.235 408

22. Fair value of foreign currency hedged financial assets -   -   -   -   

23. Hedged foreign currency assets -   -   -   -   
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31 December 2013
Total

TL 
Equivalent

USD
TL 

Equivalent

Euro
TL 

Equivalent
Other

1. Trade Receivables 7.433.038 3.286.582 142.512 -   

2.a Monetary financial assets 5.440.986 2.520.923 20.630 -   

2.b Non-monetary financial assets  -  -  - - 

3. Other 1.027.443 481.396 -   -   

4. CURRENT ASSETS 13.901.467 6.288.901 163.142 -   

5. Trade Receivables -   -   -   -

6.a Monetary Financial Assets -   -   -   -   

6.b Non-Monetary Financial Assets -   -   -   -   

7. Other -   -   -   -   

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS -   -   -   -   

9. TOTAL ASSETS 13.901.467 6.288.901 163.142 -

10. Trade Payables (157.094) (69.726) (2.819) -

11. Financial Liabilities (6.402.900) (3.000.000) - -

12.a Other Monetary Financial Liabilities - - - -   

12.b Other Non-monetary Financial Liabilities -   - -   -   

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES (6.559.994) (3.069.726) (2.819) -   

14. Trade Payables -   -   -   -   

15. Financial Liabilities (14.940.100) (7.000.000) -   -   

16.a Other Monetary Financial Liabilities -   -   -   -   

16.b Other Non-monetary Financial Liabilities -   -   -   -   

17. NON CURRENT LIABILITIES (14.940.100) (7.000.000) -   -   

18. TOTAL LIABILITIES (21.500.094) (10.069.726) (2.819) -   

19. Net asset /liability position of off-balance sheet derivatives 
(19a-19b) - - - -

19.a Off-balance sheet foreign currency derivative assets -   -   -   -   

19.b Off balance sheet foreign currency derivative liabilities -   -   -   -   

20. Net foreign currency asset/liability position                  (7.598.627) (3.780.825) 160.323 -   

21. Net foreign currency asset/ liability position of non monetary 
items (1+2a+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (8.626.070) (4.262.221) 160.323 -

22. Fair value of foreign currency hedged financial assets - - - -   

23. Hedged foreign currency assets -   -   -   -   
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Currency risk sensitivity
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk 
in USD and EURO. 

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to 
a 10% increase and decrease in the USD and Euro. 
10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting 
foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis only includes outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the period end for a 10% change 
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis 
includes external loans as well as loans to foreign 
operations within the Group where the denomination 
of the loan is in a currency other than the currency 
of the lender or the borrower. A positive number 
indicates an increase in profit / loss and other equity.

Currency risk sensitivity

31 December 2014
Profit / Loss

Appreciation 
of 

 Foreign 
currency  

 Devaluation 
of 

 foreign 
currency  

In the case of appreciation of EURO Dollar at 10 % ratio compared to TL

1 - US Dollar net 
asset/liability

  (1,886,771)   1,886,771 

2-  Part of hedged from 
US Dollar risk (-)

- -

3- US Dollar net effect   (1,886,771)   1,886,771 

In the case of appreciation of EURO Dollar at 10 % ratio compared to TL

4 - Euro net asset/liability   72,842   (72,842)

5 - Part of hedged 
from EURO risk (-)

- -

6- Euro net effect   72,842   (72,842)

TOTAL (1,813,929) 1,813,929

31 December 2013
Profit / Loss

Appreciation 
of Foreign 
currency  

 Devaluation 
of foreign 
currency  

In the case of appreciation of EURO Dollar at 10 % ratio compared to TL

1 - US Dollar net 
asset/liability

  (806,943)   806,943 

2-  Part of hedged from 
US Dollar risk (-)

- -

3- US Dollar net effect   (806,943)   806,943 

In the case of appreciation of EURO Dollar at 10 % ratio compared to TL

4 - Euro net asset/liability   47,078   (47,078)

5 - Part of hedged 
from EURO risk (-)

- -

6- Euro net effect   47,078   (47,078)

TOTAL (759,865) 759,865

Foreign currency purchase/sale contracts 
The Group makes forward contracts and currency 
swaps to cover the risks of receipts and payments, 
in a certain foreign currency. When expected sale 
and purchase transactions occur, book values of the 
items hedged from non-financial risk are adjusted.

Group has no foreign currency purchase/sale 
contracts in current period. (31 December 2013: None)

Interest rate risk management 
The Group borrows funds at fixed and variable rates 
that the Group is exposed to interest rate risk. By the 
Group, such risk is managed between fixed and variable 
rate debt by making an appropriate distribution with 
the interest rate swap contracts and term interest rate 
contracts. Hedging strategies, with the interest rate 
expectations and defined risk, is evaluated on a regular 
basis. Thus, the creation of an optimal hedging strategy, 
is intended to control review to balance sheet position 
and interest payments with different interest rates.

The following sensitivity analysis is determined on 
the exposure to interest rate risks of non derivative 
instruments in the reporting period. For floating 
rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the 
amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet 
date was outstanding for the whole year.  The Group 
management expects a floatation in interest rates of 
1%. The respective amount is used in reporting to the 
top management within the Group.
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Fixed interest instruments

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Financial 
Liabilities

188.680.069 240.017.729 

If the interest rates were higher/lower by 1%, the Group’s interest expenses before tax would be higher/
lower by 162.232 TL (31 December 2013: 213.430 TL) and interest expenses after tax would be higher/lower by 
129.858 TL (31 December 2013: 170.774 TL).

NOTE 31 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Instruments’ Classification and Fair Value

31 December 
2014

Financial 
assets at
amortized 

cost

Loans and
receivables 
(cash and

cash 
equivalents 
included)

Available 
for sale
financial 
assets

Finacial 
assets at
fair value 
through
profit or 

loss

Finacial 
liabilities 

at
fair value 
through
profit or 

loss
Carrying 

Value Note

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

95.098.784 -
                       

-   
                       

-   
                       

-   
95.098.784    6

Trade 
receivables

-   57.833.907  
                       

-   
                       

-   
                       

-   
57.833.907    9

Receivables 
from related 
parties

-   124.935.047  -   -   -   124.935.047 29

Other financial 
assets

-   
                              

-   
3.327.374  - - 3.327.374 7

Financial Liabilities

Financial 
liabilities

                          
-   

                          
-   

                          
-   

188.680.069 
                          

-   
188.680.069 8 

Trade 
payables

                          
-   

                          
-   

                          
-   

77.805.398 
                          

-   
77.805.398 9 

Payales to 
related parties

-   -   -   9.052.336 -   9.052.336 29 
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31 December 
2013

Financial 
assets at
amortized 

cost

Loans and
receivables 
(cash and

cash 
equivalents 
included)

Available 
for sale
financial 
assets

Finacial 
assets at
fair value 
through
profit or 

loss

Finacial 
liabilities 

at
fair value 
through
profit or 

loss
Carrying 

Value Note

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

10.330.825 -
                       

-   
                       

-   
                       

-   
10.330.825 6

Trade 
receivables

-   70.168.260 
                       

-   
                       

-   
                       

-   
70.168.260 9

Receivables 
from related 
parties

-   138.097.731 
                       

-   
                       

-   
                       

-   
138.097.731 29

Other financial 
assets

-   
                              

-   
4.564.874 - - 4.564.874 7

Financial Liabilities

Financial 
liabilities

                          
-   

                          
-   

                          
-   

240.017.729 
                          

-   
240.017.729 8 

Trade 
payables

                          
-   

                          
-   

                          
-   

69.928.745 
                          

-   
69.928.745 9 

Payales to 
related parties

                          
-   

                          
-   

                          
-   

7.191.710 
                          

-   
7.191.710 29 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 
• First level: Financial assets and liabilities in active markets for identical assets and liabilities are valued at  
 the quoted prices. 

• Second level: Financial assets and liabilities and the related assets or liabilities other than quoted prices in  
 first level directly or indirectly observable market prices are used to determine valuation. 

• Third level: Financial assets and liabilities, assets or liabilities that are used in determining the fair value  
 observed in the market valuation is based on the data. 

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities classification level are as follows:

Level of fair value
as of reporting date

Financial Assets
31 December

2014
1st Level

TL
2nd Level

TL
3rd Level

TL

Financial Assets at fair value through profit 
or loss 

- - - -

Available-for-sale-financial assets 3.327.374 - - 3.327.374 

Total  3.327.374 - -  3.327.374 

Level of fair value
as of reporting date

Financial Assets
31 December

2013
1st Level

TL
2nd Level

TL
3rd Level

TL

Financial Assets at fair value through profit 
or loss 

- - - -

Available-for-sale-financial assets 4.564.874 - - 4.564.874 

Total 4.564.874 - - 4.564.874 

NOTE 32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
None.
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